Essays on Law, Policy and Psychiatry Peter Fritz Walter

CODEPENDENCE
Coping with Addiction, Sadism and Abuse

EIGHT DYNAMIC PATTERNS OF LIVING
Base Elements of True Civilization

EMOTIONAL FLOW A Holistic Approach to Healing Sadism

LOVE OR LAWS?
When Law Punishes Life

MINOTAUR UNVEILED

A Historical Assessment of Adult-Child Sexual Interaction

NATURAL ORDER
Thesis, Antithesis and Synthesis in Human Evolution

PEDOPHILIA REVISITED

The Making of a Crime for Justifying Lacking Social Policy

THE COMMERCIAL EXPLOITATION OF ABUSE A Study on Social Policy

THE LEGAL SPLIT IN CHILD PROTECTION

Overcoming the Double Standard

THE ROOTS OF VIOLENCE
Why Humans Are Not by Nature Violent

COPING WITH ADDICTION, SADISM AND ABUSE

PETER FRITZ WALTER

Public Domain Edition

Essays on Law, Policy and Psychiatry, Vol. 1

Set in Avenir Light and Trajan Pro

Designed by Peter Fritz Walter

Publishing Categories Self-Help / Codependency

Author Contact Information pierrefwalter@gmail.com

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

Parallel to an international law career in Germany, Switzerland and the United States, Dr. Peter Fritz Walter (Pierre) focused upon fine art, cookery, astrology, musical performance, social sciences and humanities.

He started writing essays as an adolescent and received a high school award for creative writing and editorial work for the school magazine.

After finalizing his law diplomas, he graduated with an LL.M. in European Integration at Saarland University, Germany, in 1982, and with a Doctor of Law title from University of Geneva, Switzerland, in 1987.

He then took courses in psychology at the University of Geneva and interviewed a number of psychotherapists in Lausanne and Geneva, Switzerland. His interest was intensified through a hypnotherapy with an Ericksonian American hypnotherapist in Lausanne. This led him to the recovery and healing of his inner child.

After a second career as a corporate trainer and personal coach, Pierre retired in 2004 as a full-time writer, philosopher and consultant.

His nonfiction books emphasize a systemic, holistic, crosscultural and interdisciplinary perspective, while his fiction works and short stories focus upon education, philosophy, perennial wisdom, and the poetic formulation of an integrative worldview.

Pierre is a German-French bilingual native speaker and writes English as his 4th language after German, Latin and French. He also reads source literature for his research works in Spanish, Italian, Portuguese, and Dutch. In addition, Pierre has notions of Thai, Khmer, Chinese, Japanese, and Vietnamese.

All of Pierre's books are hand-crafted and self-published, designed by the author. Pierre publishes via his Delaware company, Sirius-C Media Galaxy LLC, and under the imprints of IPUBLICA and SCM (Sirius-C Media).



CONTENTS

Introduction				
A Common Etiology				
Chapter One	24			
What is Substance Abuse?				
CHAPTER TWO	33			
Coping with Addiction				
MIND	35			
BODY	36			
Emotions	39			
Spirit	45			
CHAPTER THREE	49			
Coping with Sadism				
FLOW	56			
Intelligence	57			
DUALITY	61			
Interactivity	62			
EQUILIBRIUM	65			
CHAPTER FOUR	70			
Coping with Abuse				
ACCEPTANCE	77			
Realizing Your Love				
FACING YOUR NOW	85			
Making a Value Decision				

TAKING ACTION	93
Affirming Your Identity	102
BIBLIOGRAPHY	107
Contextual Bibliography	
Personal Notes	178

A Common Etiology

Addiction, sadism and abuse are all power traps. I call them *traps* because when you are suffering from addiction, from being sadistic or abusive, you are trapped.

Why are you trapped? You are trapped because you are in bondage, you are not free, you have fallen prey of an obsession, or what in popular psychology is called a *complex*. The main complex to be dealt with is *codependence*; it is one of the major issues to be solved in therapy today.

Abuse is always *power abuse!* There is no other abuse; all what is usually called abuse, like sexual abuse, physical abuse or emotional abuse is *power abuse*. It's to be defined as abusing one's power over another and thereby doing harm to that other person, child or adult. Power abuse is a confusion about lim-

its. When we disrespect the limits of another person's body, by interfering in that body, by penetrating one of its orifices without consent, for example, we are treating that other body like our own body; hence we are confused about the limits of our body.

This is what essentially characterizes codependence; it is a confusion about limits. I am talking here only about parent-child codependence within the modern nuclear family, which I synonymously term cofusion, secondary fusion or pseudofusion.

Codependence is something like a pathological fixation upon a certain person; it is a dependency problem that manifests in the parent-child relation typically for the first time after the critical mother-infant symbiosis, and thus as a general rule after the first eighteen months of the baby.

What is generally very little known is the fact that even before that time, mother and child are interacting in a *subtle communication about limits* which reveals to what extent the mother is able and willing to grant to the infant autonomy, or not. This early dialogue, that is most of the time non-verbal, has been found to deeply condition people for their later relational behavior patterns.

This is more true in the mother-son relation than it is in the father-daughter relation simply because the 'matrix-giver' has more power of the child, be it boy or girl, than the 'sperm-giver.' This evaluation of the primal scene has been established first by Sigmund Freud and later by *Transactional Analysis (TA)*, and it is not as such a matter of cultural conditioning, or compliance to either matriarchy or patriarchy.

Causative factors that have been revealed in research are:

- mother did not really want the child;
- mother is professionally over-engaged, lacking time for the infant;
- lack of healthy physical interaction between parents and child;
- overly strong career focus of parents, leaving child to babysitters;
- insufficient eye contact in the mother-infant relation;
- insufficient or no breast feeding;
- insufficient tactile stimulation of the baby (tactile deprivation);

- shame-based identity of the mother and resulting rejection behavior:
 - when baby shows erotic behavior, and mother turns away regard;
 - when baby touches their genitals, and mother takes their hands off;
 - when baby seeks closeness with mother, she puts baby to sleep;
 - when mother holds baby away from her body, to avoid touch;
 - when mother constantly has 'no time' for intimacy with baby;
- father left family during pregnancy, after birth or not long thereafter;
- father, while still part of the family, is as good as never present;
- father refuses to take over any role in childcare;
- father is abusive toward mother and/or the child, etc.

In other words, codependence can be described as a compensation reaction of entangled organisms that tries to heal a split that was caused by a lack of early intimacy, and thus an insufficient caretaking or lack of nutrient behavior from the side of the mother, during the first eighteen months of the infant. The en-

tanglement paradoxically comes about through a lack of physical closeness, and of communication, and through a general tactile deprivation of the child, and also through non-physical elements such as parents' thoughts constantly focused on money and status or children generally relegated to receiving affection from secondary caretakers, babysitters, house teachers, and the like.

The entanglement specifically comes about through the fact of lacking autonomy of the child, and of lacking exposure to experiences and a social life outside of the family.

This has been shown with abundant evidence by the long-term research of James W. Prescott, Ashley Montagu, Michel Odent, Frederick Leboyer and others.

The problem of codependence is for obvious reasons much more stringent in the individualistic and separative white Western culture, and by extrapolation in the modern global culture, than in highly sociable 'open' societies such as African, South American or Asian cultures. Yet in these cultures today we face the problem in the middle and upper classes as well because they have adopted Western values and

a lifestyle that imitates most of the alienated Western behavior models, thereby shunning their own perennial wisdom, that most of their elders still are knowledgeable about.

Now, let me deepen a particularly important aspect in this research context. It is the *relationship between eroticism and codependence*. There are many myths, especially in the highly Puritanical Anglo-Saxon culture that distort and tear down natural eroticism, and these distorted popular views actually *foster and purport codependence* instead of helping to avoid it.

For example, contrary to popular belief, the rampant parent-child codependence we are facing in postmodern culture is not created through too much physical interaction and shared affection and tenderness, but the result of lacking touch!

It has often been believed that a boy will develop a codependent relationship with his mother when he is 'too close' to her, or when he sleeps with his mother in the same bed. This is not true. My research shows that the problem manifests more often and with more explosive consequences in the mother-son relation than in the father-daughter relation.

However, the causes of mother-son codependence are often depicted in an overly simplified or even distorted manner.

To begin with, it is not through shared pleasure, affection, tenderness, and touch that codependence comes about; it is not through mother and son, or father and daughter, sleeping together, taking baths together, sharing nudity, and touching each other, and it is not through their sharing a naturally sensual and erotic attraction for each other. If these elements were causative factors in the etiology of codependence, any abundantly sensual mothering or fathering would lead to entrapping children in pseudo-incestuous relations. But this is not the case. If a mother is fully erotically present for her boy-child, without being incestuous, and embraces him sensually while giving him at the same time the necessary amount of autonomy according to his age and abilities, the boy will easily master the Oedipus Complex and develop his fully functional heterosexuality that he then will project upon peer girls of his age, or approximately of his age. The same is true in the father-daughter relation with regard to the girl child's mastering the Elec-

tra Complex and projecting her sexual feelings upon peers boys.

There are many false signals in today's popular culture and vulgarized psychological publications. These false signals lead to parents' becoming more and more insecure as to the role physical affection and tenderness plays in parenting. In fact, parents are more or less constantly bombarded today with ambiguous messages that result in many parents retreating physically from their children, thereby leaving them alone in atrocious feelings of abandonment, loneliness, deprivation and despair.

As a result of 1960s and 70s American pediatrics, which fostered a physical separation between parents and child, while in the meantime this approach has been identified as a fundamental error, many of today's parents have never had an affectionate child-hood themselves and became dysfunctional parents of the next generation.

A long-term bestseller on the list of socially approved child-torture is the American parenting manual by Dr. Benjamin Spock that is still today a leading guide for many parents—to the detriment of their children

In the contrary, it is through the absence of the father together with a shame-based identification process in the mother-son relation that the most rampant and most destructive form of codependence is brought about in our society. The reason for the more dramatic constellation in the mother-son relation has to do with the greater psychic fragility of the human male in general, and with the simple fact that it is the mother who is the matrix, not the father. If you want to add one more problem complex here, it is the codependent mother-daughter relation.

By contrast, father-child care in our culture is seldom codependent simply because the father is most of the time absent, while this absence is well one the causative factors in mother-son codependence.

Another important insight about mother-child codependence is that it deprives the child, typically the boy, of the time and care needed for developing his true intelligence. Men who grow up entangled with their mothers are caught in a net of stiffening responsibilities, or obligations, or what is felt as such, which impedes them from really thinking of themselves, and minding their own business.

The result is that they hardly think their projects through to the end, taking time and rest for vision-building, constantly harassed by their picky and demanding mothers, threatened with love denial or even financial starving in case they disobey and begin to live their own lives.

In this sense, the son bears the cross, so to speak, for the sins committed by his mother, and it is really a capital sin to suffocate a young man's vital energies and intelligence by throwing one's weight around as a mother and not minding his psychic fragility as a man. In this sense, many women in our society need to be educated what right motherhood is about, and even more so, what wrong motherhood looks like.

The French child psychoanalyst and therapist Françoise Dolto has analyzed this problem in the mother-son relation, in her book *Psychoanalysis and Pediatrics*, and she writes:

There are boys who stay lovingly fixated upon their mothers; their behavior is characterized by the fact that they do not attempt to 'seduce' any other woman. If the father is alive, the two men are constantly disputing, for the fact that the boy does not detach himself from his mother and searches out other love and sex objects proves that the boy has

not liquidated—in a friendship of equality with his father—his pre-oedipal homosexuality. He will therefore prepare for getting 'in trouble' with his father through his difficult and provocative behavior.

—See Françoise Dolto, Psychanalyse et Pédiatrie (1971), p. 88 (Translation mine).

When the father has left and the boy 'dedicates himself' to his mother, this behavior can be accompanied by real social sublimations, which are associated with the activities derived from the repression of genital and procreative sexuality, but this boy cannot behave sexually and affectively like an adult. He suffers from inferiority feelings toward men that he unconsciously identifies with his father; he can also be a hyper-genital who is always avid to get new sex partners toward whom he will never build real attachment, but he will show impotent in relations with any woman he really loves, because this is associated in his unconscious with the tabooed incestuous object. (Id.)

This is how the superego of the boy becomes very early rigid (...); the reason for this is the necessity to repress the heterosexual desire in the 'maternal sphere.' (Id., p. 89)

The messages those boys and young men typically are bombarded with are: 'You are egoistic,' 'Think a little of your mother also,' 'I'm always sitting at home,

can't you make time and show me around a little?,' 'You should have a bit more gratitude for your mother,' and so on and so forth.

When the boy is eventually on the right track and really develops a genuine interest in something, mother will have enough reasons to tell him that he's inadequate for it: 'Why do you spend so much time for this, it leads you nowhere,' 'Others have done that before you, so where's the sense of it?,' 'You have grandiose ideas, stay a little bit on the floor and take care of your old mother,' 'Why don't you follow my advice, you are just stubborn.'

Much evil in the world done by men has its roots here, in a stiffening mother-son relation that deprives boys for years of their vital energies, blocking their emotional flow to a point of self-forgetfulness. This is, then, the reason why these men one day explode, so to speak, for thinking of themselves for one time, and do something horrible, to a woman, a little girl, or an elder. And who goes to jail is always the boy, then a man, and not his mother! And that, in my humble opinion, should be changed. Women are to be made responsible for being abusive as mothers, not only men, as fathers!

Women always claim to not being given enough responsibility under patriarchy, but most women are bluntly oblivious regarding their abusive attitudes toward their sons in our society—and even veil them behind feminism or what I came to call a 'victim attitude.' They always cry for abuse when it's about them, but never when it's about the boys they drive into madness, suicide, homosexuality, child rape or even murder

I do not deny the responsibility of the man, of course, for we cash in the karmic boomerang anyway, irrespective of what drove us to that point of doing harm to others, and I do not say they are not responsible. What I am saying is that both educational attitudes and criminal punishment have to be reformed as a result of the insights we got through research on emotional abuse because it is a major trigger of violent crime in our society. Instead of tightening the laws on and on, what needs to be done is social, *psychological and educational prevention of codependence*, as a matter of public sanity! Unfortunately, the clinical and psychotherapeutic practice does still not consider parent-child codependence as the most important pathology in our modern society, but bothers

way too much about marriage relations, and the husband-spouse codependence, and that is why it comes up in marriage counseling and family therapy.

But the root problem is not here but in the the way men and women have spent their childhoods, and related to their parents. What many mental health practitioners overlook is that the problem does never originate in the partner relation but in the earlier parentchild relations that both partners went through and that they project upon their partner. We all project our parent of the opposite sex upon our spouse or husband, only that there are two essentially different ways of doing that:

- a conscious way based on the letting-go of the parent (mourning);
- an unconscious way based on entanglement, confusion and hate-love.

In the Freudian terminology of the *Oedipus Com*plex, the first alternative corresponds to what Freud called a liquidated Oedipus and the second corresponds to what Freud called an unresolved Oedipus.

To summarize, when we see that addiction, sadism and abuse share a common root problem, we are

more effective as facilitators in localizing and helping to solve personal difficulties related to each of these etiologies. When we see that a power distortion in the form of lacking identity, blocked *emotional flow*, or an insufficiently built ego is at the root of these disturbances, then we have found a recipe for healing that is consistent and effective.

Mainstream psychology only reluctantly admits the commonality of these disturbances, and this reluctance is related to Western society's long-term denial of integrating the knowledge about the bioenergy, the subtle or bioplasmatic energy, or human energy field. When we see that emotions are but flowing vital energy, then, in a situation where emotional flow is blocked, we know it's a problem related to a person's lack of streaming in their bioenergetic flow cycle. When we further see that this blockage of the energy flow is at the root of both substance abuse and sexual sadism, then we are closer to drafting a healing concept for all these biogenetic disturbances.

This is more or less the approach I have taken for finding solutions to these problems, which I am going to present in the following pages.

CHAPTER ONE

What is Substance Abuse?

Substance abuse is a problem that ultimately is related to obstacles in the *process of individuation*. More precisely, addiction is in my view a symptom in a pathology that has hardly anything to do with physiological causes, but that indicates a blockage or obstruction in the individuation process.

As a result of this insight, my focus when helping addicted persons is not the drug, but the web of problems that cause many of us to crave for altering their consciousness. The reason for addiction most often is to flee a reality that one finds more or less insupportable.

This desire is not pathological; in a society that basically has lost its humanity long ago, it's no wonder that intelligent and sensitive people want to shift their reality and find ways to drop out. This desire is rather

WHAT IS SUBSTANCE ABUSE?

a sign of psychic health. Or the other way around, and as Krishnamurti put it, it's not a sign of psychic health to be well adjusted to a profoundly sick society.

This shift of focus right at the onset of the therapy makes for the difference of this form of treatment in comparison to a multitude of drug treatments presently out there. Treating a drug with drugs is as effective as fighting war with war. And yet that's exactly what is done in most conventional drug addiction treatments. It shows the fundamental weakness of modern Western medicine, that is, the *mechanistic approach* that treats symptoms without even remotely understanding the underlying cause.

When I started my research on codependence years ago, I was wondering in the first place why I myself never had a problem with addiction. One reason may be that from childhood I had a strong and undisturbed relationship with pleasure. I remember sexual activeness back until age three and from my mother's amused remarks I was born with a strong erection and was being sexual right from the moment of birth.

In addition, I grew up in a permissive environment regarding alcoholic beverage, while alcohol consumption never represented a problem in my life. It was

perhaps through this permissiveness of both my parents and their intelligent advice that I could learn from early age to consume wine in ways that did not damage my health and wellbeing. And it was only wine that I liked, not beer and never any stronger alcohols. I actually was a wine drinker from school times, which was not an exception in our region, which is one of Germany's famous wine-growing regions.

And it was as early as in high school that I began to reason on more critical lines, many of which I am still reasoning on today. I thought to myself that it was amazing how easily I had learnt to manage pleasure, while I saw in the lives of my school mates that they hardly questioned any of the established views—and the view that pleasure is important was anathema at that time, and in that repressive environment. I actually put up the slogan 'only smart people are sexual, stupid ones not.' I had very early in life understood that an undisturbed pleasure function and absence of guilt is the basis of high intelligence, and later high achievement.

From observing my inner movements, the ways that my emotions and fears affected my decisions, and from observing others, I began, already in high

WHAT IS SUBSTANCE ABUSE?

school, to build a kind of work hypothesis that reads as follows: 'It is most probably not the alcohol, the drug or cigarette themselves where the problem lies with, but the *inner need* we experience to consume them, and overconsume them until our health is gravely damaged. What, then, makes us so badly need and eventually abuse of these things? What is it that creates this need? Which is the lack that we try to compensate with consuming mind-altering drugs?'

My first intuitive answer to this question was that we need drugs for pleasure reasons, because it's pleasure that is lacking in the lives of most of us. I scrutinized the lives of people who are addicted to hard drugs, and found they all have in common that they lack out on a satisfying and fulfilling sex life. While most of them would not admit it, they have a rather limited view of sexuality and generally, of love, often associating sex with 'aggressiveness' or judging sex as something 'animal-like' or 'brute.' And when you have such a starting point in your feeling level about sexuality, you can never, excuse me, have a fulfilling sex life!

That's impossible because conscious behavior and unconscious internalization of that behavior clash, and

are so divergent that they fragment the person. And as we cannot live without sex, apart from some rare species called yogis or saints, we have no choice here but to work on getting our conscious behavior and our unconscious internalization of it in alliance. That means, in short, getting the negative thought-forms about sex out of our unconscious; these thought-forms were built during childhood and youth, and are almost always the result of a life-denying and bodyhostile education.

And then I found that, in addition, most of the people addicted to hard drugs are emotionally inhibited; they never really express their emotions. Thus they have a blockage on both the explosion level and the feeling level, so to speak.

When we deny our body to experience natural pleasure, we educate our body to crave for *unnatural* pleasure. That's how it goes. It's a very simple logic yet most people are so stuck in their accumulated rationalizations and beliefs that they just don't see this natural truth. And this was probably the other reason why I did not fall in the drug-trap. I have had early sex and let neither the system nor anybody repress my strong emotionality. Despite the fact that in boarding

WHAT IS SUBSTANCE ABUSE?

school I had a comrade who smoked joints in the evening and offered me some, I could not find a taste in it. If I had, I perhaps would have got stuck with it, for my school time was as miserable as that of any other kid. I could resist *substance dependency* because I had found my unique pleasure in real love and sexual fulfillment with a good friend of my age that lasted from our ages ten to eighteen all the way through our time in the boarding, and that was very fulfilling.

Interestingly enough, my intimate friend, too, had no taste for drugs despite the fact that he liked smoking a joint once in a while, but he, like me, never got addicted to anything. We were curious about how we were different in living our love so openly, despite negative experiences that our long-term intimacy caused with others in the home. So in our daily talks we often approached these questions and also observed others, peer boys, and ourselves.

Generally, we agreed that our sexual happiness compensated for a lot of strain that others went through during these years of hardship that is the lot of most young people in this idiotic culture. Three of my school comrades killed themselves when they

were around the age to enter university. All three of them committed suicide for the same reason: an unhappy love affair with a girl who refused to have sex. All three of them were sexual virgins!

Scientifically speaking, the origin of the drug problem lies with one or the other form of pleasure deprivation. Let us get a little deeper into that. Why do we need pleasure? We need pleasure because of physiological reasons, and still more because of bioenergetic reasons.

Pleasurable feelings are *vibrations*; it's a fact that our body must constantly vibrate in order to maintain homeostasis and vitality! This is particularly true for sexual pleasure.

—See Peter Fritz Walter, The Energy Nature of Human Emotions and Sexual Attraction: A Systemic Analysis of Emotional Identity in the Process of the Human Sexual Response (2015/2017).

Sexuality basically is a bioelectric process that is characterized by a dialectic alternation of charge and discharge; thus, it is an energy metabolism. And the circulation of the bioenergy in our organism is absolutely vital for health and old age. The fact that there

WHAT IS SUBSTANCE ABUSE?

are yogis and saints who can live without sexuality does not disprove this fact. It only shows that there are ways to maintain and even strengthen the energy metabolism in our organism without engaging in sexual activity in the strict sense. These people have simply learnt to directly impact upon the flow of the bioenergy in the organism.

For most of us, to learn one of these esoteric techniques would require years of assiduous study and discipline. The direct approach therefore is to follow nature and do what it asks us for, and that is simply to have sex when we want to have sex. As it is said in Zen 'When you are hungry, eat, when you are tired, sleep.' This wistful statement implies that self-regulation is one of the best ways to live in accordance with nature and maintain good health until old age. Self-regulation, in turn, means that you don't repress your sexual urges but find ways to live them socially and constructively.

In addition, pleasure has another important function. It can compensate for a great deal of frustration and feelings of powerlessness that go along with strict or authoritarian education.

CHAPTER TWO

Coping with Addiction

Another element in the etiology of addiction is lack of emotional stimulation. The problem is that in our patriarchal culture, especially for boys, the general paradigm requires feelings to be seen as inappropriate, flimsy or associated with 'good guy' behavior. The macho culture represses feelings especially in men, which is one of the best ways to make men more vulnerable than women in many ways. The cancer, aids and heart disease statistics prove it, where men are invariably worse affected than women.

The root of the problem, if we look carefully at it, does not lie with drugs but with our lacking emotional maturity, our need for symbiosis, which results from tactile deprivation in early childhood. However, we are here now and it is not of much avail to deplore our miserable childhoods or endlessly blame our parents

and teachers. It may be comforting to do it once in a while but in the long run it will not bring us any further.

What helps in the long run is to catch up with your missed individuation and gain some form of stable autonomy, with one word, to construe an inner structure that we were denied to build as children.

Without doing this work, addiction cannot be healed. Certain palliatives may be given that last for a certain time. But long-term healing is only possible once we treat the root of the problem: our *lacking individuation* and accordingly, our *lacking identity!* This means in clear text that we have to build our ego. The work that is needed, if it is to be effective, has to encompass:

- Mind
- Body
- Emotions
- Spirit

These are our essential work areas. Working on these four basic parts will ensure a process of integra-

COPING WITH ADDICTION

tion that eventually will lead to wholeness and thus complete mental, psychic and physical health.

MIND

You can use visualization and affirmative prayers to change your inner script and to gradually build a positive mindset. In addition, you should work on building vision. Vision means to envision goals and intentions, and to project them into the future. You do this by drafting a Personal Vision Statement (PVS).

—See Peter Fritz Walter, Walter's Leadership Guide: Why Good Leadership Starts with Self-Leadership, Chapter Four (2015).

It is absolutely essential that you train your mind through new learning challenges, especially through learning how to learn, the know-how of fast and effective learning. This also means that you begin to rely upon your intuition, which is your true intelligence, and that you empower yourself in trusting your infinite potential!

When you do this, you will soon become aware of your negative self-talk; this awareness will lead you to gradually implementing a new and positive self-talk.

Learn to disregard all people who make you down, and those who are enchained by moralistic concepts of living or use brutality as measures of discipline, however they name or justify those measures. By learning to trust yourself, you learn trusting others.

BODY

You should be conscious of what you eat! To get there, practicing some form of diet is useful. Try to control especially your gluten and carbohydrate ingestion. As a compensatory effect, the deprivation of a drug that gave you pleasure may have you look for other oral pleasure sensations such as sugar. That means you drive out the Devil with Beelzebub, so to speak. To replace good high-quality wine with sodas rammed with sugar, food conservatives and chemicals under the header of 'getting away from alcohol' is one of the absolutely nonsensical propagandistic commonplaces that today pervade the media. Our big headlines in the news are most often not inspired

COPING WITH ADDICTION

by health reasons but there are hard financial interests that make those headlines repeating their messages over and over.

In France a scientific research was conducted back in 2004 that led to the result that wine has many positive health benefits. Of course, you may object that in France, in contrast to the United States, the wine producers are perhaps as powerful as the soft drink industry and that that was the reason behind the 'positive benefits' of wine.

Yes, this may well be so, but that is exactly why I say that you must use your own discretion and follow your own body instead of directing your life along the lines of media gossip.

Controlling your diet cannot be done with discipline alone because you cannot force the body without some negative feedback either in your body itself or in your emotions. You have to address dietary needs in your daily visualizations and work with positive affirmations. It is the mind that forms the body so any problem in the body, any adaptation process, can only come from the mind if it is to be effective. On the other hand, try to find a kind of food that pleases your

senses but that, at the same time, is healthy, such as, for example Chinese, Vietnamese or Japanese food.

Avoid junk food and the habit of eating when you are busy with something. Always eat *consciously*, being fully present of what you eat and how you eat at any moment when you eat. Avoid over-eating. These two rules together with quality food are sufficient to avoid obesity of any kind—except you suffer from extreme emotional hangups.

Do some pleasurable work with your body, such as sex that is fulfilling, also emotionally, and exercises that fill your cells with oxygen and help your organism divest of depleted cells. Among the best exercises I know for this purpose are Qigong breathing exercises. But the most important is that you *love your body!* You can express this love by regularly caring for your body, by keeping it healthy, functional and strong, and also by take care of your outward appearance, how you come over to others. Buy the clothes you like and only those you like, not those that are fashionable or that others recommend to you.

Try to become every day more conscious of your inner voices and intuitions. Listening to yourself is very important if you are to build more trust and more

COPING WITH ADDICTION

honesty toward yourself. Be always gentle with yourself and your body will be gentle toward you and learn every new lesson with diligence.

EMOTIONS

First of all, forget any distinction between 'good' and 'bad' emotions. All our emotions are good, and all have a right of existence, period! However, the hot emotions such as anger, fear or jealousy eat up a lot of bioenergy, which makes that, if you are angry or jealous or fearful often, you will be constantly low in energy. If you want to build your energy potential high so that you may achieve higher, you have to avoid as much as possible the hot emotions like anger, fear, hatred or jealousy. This does not mean that you should become cold or careless. There is a world of difference between people who are cold by character or because they are careless people, and people who are genuinely caring but wise enough to keep a healthy balance in their emotions. The magic word is balance, not control. Control does not work on emotions, nor does repression. The societies that have the highest rates of violent crime such as the United

States are the cultures which repress emotions the strongest and where education and social morals constantly stress the need to control emotions.

If we control our emotions, we are robots because there will be no more spontaneity. Have a look, for example, at Asian culture, the Chinese or Japanese, or Indonesian cultures, and you will notice that they are more tolerant towards emotions; but you will also notice that their education stresses more than ours the need to keep a healthy balance in our emotional life.

If you see that you are constantly fighting with a particular person, or if you see there are power struggles going on within a group of people you frequent, leave them and get a distance! Many people who suffer from addictions are caught in power struggles without finding by themselves a way out of the dilemma.

There is however always a way, it is the archaic flight-or-fight response. If you do not want to fight, you must take a distance. You must go, end the relationship, and say your ultimate no to it. People trapped in alcohol or drug abuse often are simply unable to say this decisive no, thus unable to making the

COPING WITH ADDICTION

right choices at moments they need to. They may never have learnt it in their younger years simply because they did not have the inner space to act. They had to re-act because in their younger years they were constantly trapped by their parents or other caretakers. It is the flight response perverted into a pseudo-flight that results. I escape into my dream world because life is too hard for me and I am not hard enough to knock those down who abuse of my goodness!

No, you do not need to knock them down; you can listen to *yourself* instead of listening to them, and get to live your own life, based on your own choices and decisions! The next step then, when you are in peace with yourself, is to work on your power problems. Power struggles cannot arise if you are feeling strong and powerful. It needs always two for love—and for fight. If you are feeling okay about yourself and you have resolved your power problems, nobody can ever get you out of your continuum.

This means you will not let others get you in discussions, disputes or fights of whatever kind. To gain mastership of your autonomy, you need to work constantly and patiently on building your soul power and,

as a result, your social power. There are basically four steps on this way:

- Get your power back 'Empower yourself'
- Give power to others 'Empower others'
- Communicate powerfully'See the power in communicating'
- Build powerful teams'See the power in associating'

—See Peter Fritz Walter, Walter's Career Guide: Why Getting a Job is Not Enough (2015).

You will not build successful relationships if you begin at the wrong end and engage in social groupings before having done your home work. However, that is what most people do, rushing into participating in social groupings in the hope that through togetherness they'd feel more powerful; they think group life will help them forget about the *ugly little man* or the *ugly little woman* inside of themselves. When they are with the group, they feel strong and good while miserable and poor when alone. But that

COPING WITH ADDICTION

is a trap! That is not empowerment, but an *illusion*, and a very dangerous vintage of it!

As long as you are not a true individual, and thus an undivided unit, as long as you have not built your own self, you cannot build really interdependent relationships. You will try to either get into some form of dependency or symbiosis with them ('I need you') or try to dominate them ('I get you'). It means the power struggle is right from the start programmed into your very relationship with the group.

The right way to begin, therefore, is to begin with yourself. Get your power back! Become complete and whole again, an individual. If power has been denied to you during your childhood and youth—which happened to most of us, there is no way other than working on that problem. If you refuse to do this work, the need for power that has been repressed will drive you from your unconscious desires and can cause obsessions, emotional, psychic and sexual fixations, alcohol or drug addictions, neurotic anxieties and habits, sexual dysfunctions or perverse sexuality, or else even psychotic disorders.

Why do we need power?

Here we are back at our initial question, and I may repeat and summarize it again what we found earlier in this manual. We need power and energy to build our life as our own original creation. Many people live lives as if they were articles bought in second hand shops. They live lives that are not their own. They live the lives of millions of other people, lives that are conditioned through standardized educational norms, standardized food, standardized media input, standardized conventions, standardized wishes and dreams, standardized religious celebrations, standardized cultural to-do's and not-to-do's. They are robots, not men and women. They are not humans after all—because they are not human.

A more subtle reason why people take drugs is indeed the dehumanization of modern society, the seeming lack of human input through sensitiveness and care for others. Once you are off from it, you have to be very careful not to get affected by the vices of this society that, just because you have found a healthier way to cope with life, is not going to change for you. You will confront the same odd problems and adversities that you encountered originally when you were searching for a way out.

COPING WITH ADDICTION

SPIRIT

You strengthen your spirit by developing a fundamental vision about your future life and hold this vision! It is visions that most powerfully aid our self-development. The Bible says 'Where there is no vision, the people perish.' Your vision is the choice of something that really deeply excites you, something you want to realize or become. When this happens, just stay with it and by no means push or rationalize it away. Don't say things like 'I can't do that because...' or 'I won't have the financial means to realize that...' or else 'They won't accept me because...' or even 'That's something not in for me.' Instead of pushing it away, accept it as an inner message, an important and serious message that you want to consider carefully.

Then make a list of the reasons why you can do it and why you think you cannot do it. Take a white page and divide it vertically in two parts. On top of the left column you write, 'I can,' on top of the right column you write, 'I can't.' Now enumerate all what comes to mind why you either can or cannot do this thing. After completing this list, don't do anything for three days and see what happens. It means that you watch the feedback you get from the universe, the feedback

that you get through your inner voices, people you meet, your dreams, books you find, conversations you have, omens and so on. You can better deal with life if you learn to decode the omens that are our daily synchronistic encounters with destiny. Life does not proceed logically, in the sense that it uses a Cartesian logic. Beware, the logic of life is higher and more complex than our human logic! It is *infinite intelligence*, and its logic is a *metalogic* or holographic logic; however our unconditioned human intelligence can easily be tuned to receiving the messages coming from this universal intelligence.

As I have pointed out earlier, prayer or some other kind of spiritual ceremonial on an individual basis is useful for both dissolving conditioning and making us receptive for the higher vibrations in our nature. If this sounds odd to you, please be reminded that perceiving the deeper sense of one's life is even more important to humans than their natural and important striving for pleasure. Becoming whole and being truly in peace with the world and ourselves is not possible if we neglect this spiritual longing that is so deeply rooted within our nature.

COPING WITH ADDICTION

You may want to find out first about different spiritual practices so as to choose the one that most appeals to you. For me, since many years, it is *Taoism* and the Taoist rituals of establishing a sacred space in our living area, to practice the art of directions and design such as *Feng Shui*, and to do body work, and else to consider peace and harmonious balance as the highest values for my individual life and my contributions to society or the whole of humanity.

CHAPTER THREE

Coping with Sadism

We deal with sexual sadism in dealing with its root problem, that is a distortion or *blockage of the emotional flow*. What is emotional flow, and what are emotions?

Emotions are streaming bioenergy, bioelectric currents; by being energy-related, emotions are also information fields, and they are intelligent. Emotions are functional and purposeful. They are not random, but follow an order. The order they follow can be visualized as a dynamic kaleidoscope.

Emotions are not, as psychologists still believe, part of thought. The emotional body was known to parapsychologists, psychics and aura healers since times immemorial; it is part of our ethereal or luminous body, a shining fluid shell that surrounds our physical body, a few inches away, transparent and in-

visible. Humans, for the psychic, are eggs; the form of the ethereal body is egg-like and wobbling, always in dynamic exchange with the environment, a dynamic synapse for osmotic exchange between the energies that surround us and those that are contained in our individuated shell.

Understanding the energetic and flowing nature of our emotions challenges us for learning about life. The most essential characteristic of energy is that it flows, that it moves, that it cycles. Its movement is circular, and not linear, spiraled, and not one-dimensional. The DNA is a spiral but not one that extends on one dimension but that climbs at every cycle one step higher in evolution. The DNA is a very good metaphor for life as a whole, and also for our emotions. Our emotions cycle, they are not linear, and they are not static, but dynamic. Their predominant characteristic is *change*. To repeat it, I express this truth by speaking of the *kaleidoscope of emotions*. When blocking one emotion, you block them all.

Let me explain more in detail why this is so. The most typical about emotions is that one emotion, after a culmination point occurs, changes into another; as a whole they form a *dynamic kaleidoscope*. Once

we understand the bioenergetic nature of emotions and the fact that they constantly cycle, we will become aware that it is unhealthy to keep stuck in one emotion and impede it from changing; we will then also see that it is dysfunctional to suppress one emotion or, even worse, to interchange one emotion for another by repressing the one we find too queer by another that we find more acceptable.

Let us have a closer look at the etymological roots of these words: *emotions*, and *expression*. When I write 'e-motion,' and 'ex-pression,' I get closer to the truth because language is often significant. An 'e-motion' is a movement out of something and into something else. An 'ex-pression' describes the fact of pressing, squeezing something out.

Dr. Wilhelm Reich, as perhaps the first Western physician, saw the linguistic truth as well as the energy truth of emotions. He spoke, at that time still writing in German, of *Ausdrucksbewegung*, a movement of pressing or squeezing something out. What is it that is squeezed out and from where? It's bioenergy, and it's squeezed out, or, to use a better term, irradiated from the cell plasma into the aura and from there into the whole of the universe. We are light bulbs in fact.

The essential characteristic of e-motion thus is that it is but the continuous movement of the cell plasma itself. Pleasure-inducing sensations cause an *e-motion* of the protoplasm originating from the nucleus and emanating toward the periphery while painful sensations or fear rather cause a contraction of the system, and thus a movement of the sensation from the periphery toward the nucleus.

Reich concludes that as a result of expansion and contraction movements in the plasma responding to the nature of the incoming stimulus, we can talk about two basic emotions: *lust*, which is expansive, streaming from the nucleus toward the periphery, and *fear*, which is contractive, returning from the periphery to the nucleus.

We can as well put it in simpler terms and conclude that emotions are how we perceive the natural flow of the vital energy in our organism. Anger or sexual desire are centrifugal forces from the cell nucleus toward the periphery of the cell, and beyond—we can say that they have a bioelectrical function of discharge. Vice versa, the emotions that are centripetal such as fear, contract the system and thus *charge* the system bioelectrically.

It is only because modern science is blind to the bioenergy function within the organism that it is not able to measure, and was not able to develop devices to measure the bioelectric charges and discharges that emotions trigger within our cell protoplasm.

This very movement of the bioenergy, either expansive or contractive, in the cell plasma according to the outflow or inflow of bioelectric currents in the form of emotions is exactly what makes the living and the difference to non-living matter. This is not just a word game, for *language describes organ sensations*. Our body movements reflect our inner bioplasmatic movements in a stunning manner. What is conveyed here is not a singular phenomenon, but a whole *Gestalt*, a sort of holistic total expression of our being, an information that cannot be given by verbal language alone. We can thus observe a bipolar directional movement of our vital energy, manifesting as *expression* and *impression*.

Expression is the bioenergetic flow from the nucleus to the periphery of the cell, and accordingly from the innermost of the body toward the energetic ethereal energy reservoir of the aura. We talk about the expression of our emotions. We affirm that emo-

tions need to be expressed. *Impression* is the flow of the bioenergy from the cell's periphery toward the nucleus, and accordingly from the aura into the cellular protoplasm. We talk about impressions when we talk about vivid emotional, sensational or pictorial experiences, the impression a sunset made upon us, the impression that a film left on our memory, or the impression we had of a certain person.

After this functional explanation of emotions, it may be more easily understood why the moralizing distinction of emotions in 'good and bad,' as part of traditional patriarchal education, has done almost irreparable damage to psychosomatic wholeness and as a result fragmented us into split personalities that function in a schizoid manner.

Let me demonstrate this fact by an example; let us look at *rage*, the quintessentially bad emotion within a civilization that builds on the repression of emotions. In our culture, rage is considered as per se dangerous; people who experience temper tantrums once in a while, be it children or adults, are considered as imbalanced and maladjusted to society. The truth is that they are *better adjusted* than those who repress their rage. Wilhelm Reich once said that why

we have so many wars, violence and genocide in the world is not because we are too emotional, but because we are too little emotional!

Guess who is more likely to die from a coronary or a cancer, those who express their anger or those who suppress their anger? The answer is obvious, it is those who suppress their anger.

Alternative cancer therapy focuses on liberating pent-up emotions in an alternative setting where, instead of just looking at the specific cancerous tumor, the whole life story of the patient is subject of the therapy. Cancer, truly, is a problem of cellular communication, much as all of our emotional problems. It was established by alternative cancer therapists such as Carl and Stephanie Simonton that cancer cells, contrary to common myths, are not strong and powerful, but weak and confused and do not attack healthy plasma but just overproduce because they contain wrong genetic information. Whereas normal cells communicate effectively with their environment to determine their optimal size and rate of reproduction, the communication and self-organization of malignant cells are impaired. As a consequence they grow larger than healthy cells and reproduce recklessly. Cancer

thus can be said to represent an emotional disturbance, just that, and not an incurable fate that needs bullet medicine and expensive chemotherapy. This emotional disturbance is probably brought about by a lack of inner communication on an emotional level, earlier in life. As I said earlier on, emotions are information fields, and by suppressing certain emotions, we distort the information flow in our organism, and therefore do not need to wonder why later our organism suffers from a malfunction or produces a tumor.

In fact, the same principles that are valid for energetic and systemic processes in the cosmos, nature and our organism are valid for emotions. Here they are: Flow, Intelligence, Duality, Interactivity and Equilibrium.

FLOW

Our emotions are in constant flow, just as our blood. If you obstruct the blood flow, the blood will coagulate and lose many of its naturally positive characteristics. When blood coagulates inside the blood vessels, we die very shortly thereafter from heart insufficiency. This fact suffices to make us understand how

important the flow character is for all of the substances that our body is composed of. The same is true for our emotions.

INTELLIGENCE

The Tao is within us, not outside. It is within all. It cannot be seen or heard, yet it is omnipresent. In our modern science language we would speak of the universal intelligence that is creating, sustaining and animating life and all-that-is. It is the caring providence that heals us when we are wounded. It is the anticipating knowledge that keeps somebody away from entering a boat that later on was going to sink – because the person got some strange feeling shortly before going on that trip.

This intelligence is equally present in our emotions. Emotions have their own intelligence. They act and interact with each other intelligently. In recent years the idea of *emotional intelligence* has entered not only our talk shows but scientific publications on the highest level.

Once we understand that our emotions are intelligent, we will be less inclined to suppress or belittle

them. And we may really want to listen to them as in many cases when emotions get out of hand, they give us a signal, and these signals are generally important for our personal evolution. As we will see further down, it is not inherent in emotions that they unleash in all directions, but only if we handle them wrongly.

Nature has setup our emotional processes in a way that they interact with each other intelligently so as to enrich our lives. If we trust our emotional intelligence, the intrinsic intelligence that is inherent in all our emotions, we are generally more intelligent. With other words, a person will score better in an IQ test if their emotions are non-obstructed and lively than a control person with lesser or blocked emotions. While this was not seen by most scientists still about two decades ago, this insight is now influencing the way IQ tests are drafted. It is logical that an IQ test that only tests linear or logical intelligence will not be able to adequately describe a person's emotional intelligence because this intelligence is non-linear and holistic. It is a higher logic or a systems logic, an inductive logic also, and not a mechanistic and deductive logic.

People who believe in so-called 'logical reality' are deeply mistaken in that they take the part for the whole. For them, anything that is not to be detected by our five senses does not exist. As a result, they tend to dominate any conversation with left-brain arguments that partly or totally miss the point. In their life, they adhere to a highly reductionist pragmatism that excludes any holistic reality and distills their reductionist beliefs in an arrogant dominator doctrine that is backed up by Darwinism and mainstream science. Emotions, for them, are human weaknesses or just 'junk', and they are here on the same line of reasoning as biotechnologists who declare unused parts of our DNA as junk.

In the contrary, it is true that emotional intelligence enhances linear logical intelligence, instead of interfering negatively with it. Let me give an example. Einstein's intelligence, while he was certainly a brilliant logical thinker, was predominantly emotional intelligence. Einstein, in daily life, wasn't a dry scientist or bureaucrat, but in the contrary a quite eccentric person with many interests, a very good musician (violinist), a charming talker and a man with a high level of fantasy and a childlike behavior.

Einstein came over as an artist or a daydreamer, if not as a street peddler. Very few would have guessed that he was the greatest mathematician and physicist of the twentieth century and one of the greatest scientists of all times. This is so because Einstein trusted his emotions, the emotional nature of his intelligence and in the universal intelligence in all living.

Once we begin to understand the basic functionality of our emotions, and their inherent intelligence, we will perhaps stop brushing them off or belittling them as something that only regards children and females.

Many men, in fact, have much more of a problem with their emotions than women and children, because of their *patriarchal mindset*. The best way to block your true intelligence is by blocking your emotions or by denying their very existence. What then happens, namely, is that they begin to live their own life and will control you without you being conscious of it. And this causes many problems in life, in health and in relationships.

DUALITY

Our emotions, like all in life, are reigned by the duality principle, they ebb up and they flow down, they increase and they decrease, and eventually they go through a culmination point and then change. Let me demonstrate this with an example. When you are enraged, your rage will increase until it reaches the culmination point. What happens when rage reaches this point?

The astonishing thing is that you will not experience lesser rage then, but no rage at all. Your rage will change into another emotion, for example joy, or it will completely cease with no other emotion overtaking: you are at peace.

Why is that so? This is so because our emotions are interconnected in what I call a *kaleidoscopic succession*. A kaleidoscope is a device where the prism is split off by a lens into its basic spectral colors. These devices that many of us know from childhood, were designed like little photographic cameras or glasses and you could look at any object using the kaleidoscope as a filter. You would then see life in many different colorful shades.

This metaphor fits our emotions very well, as they are as it were the basic spectral colors of the light beam of life which is like a bundled beam of white light. Every emotion, by the frequency of the spectral color that it adds on to the beam of the bioenergy, completes the white beam. As you know from optics, the light can only be white if the spectrum is complete. And so it is with our emotions. Your vital energies are only complete and strong, if all your emotions are active and contribute their specific bioelectric frequencies to the main frequency of the bioenergy beam that flows through your organism.

When you block one of the emotions, its frequency range is lacking or becomes distorted. As a result, your white beam of vital energy will not be really white and thus will be weakened. That is why the duality of our emotions is so important and must be functional if emotions are to flow healthily.

INTERACTIVITY

Our emotions are *interactive* in two ways: they interact with each other and they interact with the envi-

ronment, with other people's emotions and even with surrounding natural energies such as the weather.

Yes, our emotions influence the weather! This is not a superstition but one of the insights of perennial science that Reich's orgone research has corroborated. Vice versa, the macrocosmic energies contained in the earth atmosphere, and even solar spots influence our emotions. There is nothing really separated in nature. All of us know the disastrous influence negative people can have over even a mass audience. Hitler, when he declared his doctrine of 'total war', was frenetically applauded by thousands of people, while the speech and many other similar speeches that led him to that point of victory were filled with emotions, and very little or highly distorted intellectual content. Hitler intuitively knew that emotions can be induced in others, be they positive-constructive or negative-destructive.

Many however are misguided using this example for declaring emotions themselves as destructive, which is a childish error: if I spoil a pizza by putting too much salt in it, this does not mean that pizza is per se bad food. By the same token, positively inspired politicians use uplifting emotional content for

convincing the masses of their good intentions and decided attitude. Well-known examples are John F. Kennedy, Martin Luther King Jr. Mahatma Gandhi or Nelson Mandela.

When we look at interactivity between our emotions, we can observe that this interactivity has two main characteristics. The first characteristic is that emotions are *generally exclusive* in that they come up in a pure manner and very seldom mixed. When I am enraged, I am not joyful. When I am bathing in joy, I am not exploding of anger.

Have you ever seen somebody who was furious and joyful at the same time? The second characteristic is that emotions are *replacing each other*. When rage has reached its culmination point, it vanishes to either peace, with no other emotion coming up, or joy.

It is important to be conscious of this interactive play of emotions because it indicates that we should not violently interfere in emotions or block them, because doing so will prolong an emotion and really can trigger destructive effects. When I am enraged and try to not be enraged, this very effort to suppress my anger will at the end boost it up and can make it uncontrollable.

EQUILIBRIUM

Emotions naturally are in an equilibrium. None of them dominates the scene. Have you ever seen somebody *always* joyful or *always* enraged? This would not only be unnatural and artificial but virtually impossible to bring about. The only thing we can be sure of in life is that it *changes*. The same is true for our emotions for they are a vital expression of life.

The reason why many people, especially in our Western culture, are emotionally unbalanced has its cause in the fact that they subscribe to a moralistic life paradigm that makes them judge emotions, trying to suppress those that they judge 'bad' and at the same time trying to bring about emotions they judge 'good'. This moralistic and judgmental attitude toward emotions is highly destructive. It makes for all kinds of inner and outer strife and war. It makes for destruction worldwide and is at the root of all evil. This is so because interfering in the natural flow of our emotions destroys the natural equilibrium between them and thus inhibits emotional flow. As a result, because of their moralistic belief system, these people are at pains to understand the biogenic truths that I am pointing out in this manual, and they thereby

block their own healing power. That is why they are very prone to sadism, and may even develop some or the other fatal disease, such as cancer, that is the result of the constant and pathological obstruction of their biosystem.

On the other hand, it goes without saying that those who are open and receptive to their emotional and bioenergetic flow, have good chances to heal their sadistic affliction. This is so because they are body-conscious, and their organ sensations are still intact. When you are aligned with your body, you feel the bioenergetic streams as agreeably warm and 'happy' currents flowing through you, and when the emotional flow is obstructed, you feel that through a sensation of cold, and a general 'deadness' of your body; you may experience 'icy hand and feet', or some limbs may feel 'cut off' from the whole of your body. Sadism typically is related to several of the following systems:

- obsessive habits such as frequent hand-washing;
- constantly sweaty hands and feet, even in the cold;
- frequent diarrhea;

- icy feet or hands, or both, even in hot summer;
- frequent outbursts, often for ridiculous reasons;
- strong resentment;
- sensation of pleasure when humiliating another;
- making often fun of other people's misfortunes;
- use of alcohol as a justifier for violent attacks;
- racial or ethnic prejudice, etc.

The healing of sadism, then, must proceed through *relaxation*, first of all, because all these symptoms betray a *high level of emotional stress*. Stress cannot be dealt with by putting more stress, but in the contrary by reducing stress. When you frequently get into a rage or throw a tantrum, this simply means that you are dealing with life, and people, in a way that is stressful and therefore harms you. It's because you do not really handle your emotions; you are rather handled by them. Handling your emotions starts with relaxing yourself, so that your bioenergy gets back to normal, and begins to flow in its natural balance.

The problem is that you are not consciously stressed when you suffer from sadism. It all seems to be 'normal' when you have these urges that you can hardly talk about; you do most of the time not realize that it's simply *stress* you are suffering from. When you build awareness of your stress level, when this whole process of dealing with life becomes part of attention to detail, then you begin to relax even in situations where formerly you reacted in a chaotic and emotionally charged manner.

Then, as a result, this inner peace that is going to become your new inner dynamics, is going to impact also upon your sexual behavior. With one word, your urges will take less diabolic dimensions and are more easily lived in a partnership, without driving your partner out of the door.

When you keep the above scheme in mind, and are aware of the kaleidoscopic nature of emotions, you are ready to let your body practice its natural self-regulation. By not interfering in your emotions, by not blocking one or the other of them that you find is not desirable, you help your body establish the normal flow condition in your emotions, and healing will follow with natural ease. So you see you don't actually

need to do something, in the contrary, you have to stop doing so much, and thinking so much, and worrying so much, and sit back and enjoy!

Your body will do the necessary work of readjustment, without further interference needed. You can also formulate it in the old Chinese way and say that sadism is cured by *non-action*, rather than by action.

What is sadism other than overreaction? To put an end to overreaction, you simply relax, and all will get back to normal. But it needs time. When you have been a sexual sadist all your life, it needs more time than with a youngster who just experiences the first hot waves of diabolic lust, combined with a certain need for violence when being sexual. But the healing concept is not different for young people or adults, for children or for parents.

Relaxation is the key, and when I say relaxation I mean not only relaxing the body, but also relaxing the mind, relaxing the psychic energy, the worry pattern, so to speak. Then, gradually, the emotional flow will increase when mental, psychic and physical tissues are back to their normal elasticity, and with the increase of bioenergetic streaming, the sadism pattern will lose its dominance.

CHAPTER FOUR

Coping with Abuse

When you are physically, emotionally or sexually abusive in your overall behavior, then the reason is that your power is not integrated, that it is scattered, causing you frequent or even ongoing depressions.

Let me first clarify that true soul power never is abusive. This is exactly where it differs from worldly powers. Worldly power is easily abused because it's not based on spiritual awareness, and attention to detail. By contrast, soul power is always integrated in your soul reality, and embedded in your spiritual unity and uniqueness. When you recognize your being abusive in one or the other way, you know that your power is not soul power because soul power can't be abusive.

I will present to you *six steps* here for changing your inner power. You are actually going to change

COPING WITH ABUSE

your self-image. This is an awareness process you can master without going through a whole therapy for healing your childhood hangups. All negative conditioning that originally led to your abusive behavior will be dissolved by your own vital energy flow, the flow of your emotional energy, directed by your consciousness. I see this as a 6-Step Process:

- 1) Acceptance;
- 2) Realizing Your Love;
- 3) Facing Your Now;
- 4) Making a Value Decision;
- 5) Taking Action;
- ▶ 6) Affirming Your Identity

Human behavior cannot be rammed into people; only on the basis of acceptance, human behavior can be changed on a long-term basis. Without seeing what is, you cannot progress, and will eternally be stuck in your moralistic split that makes you deny the very reality of your suffering and its cause. As long as you stay with the inner dichotomy, the schizophrenic split of life in should be behavior and real behavior,

you will be torn up in guilt and fear, and change will be blocked.

As paradoxical as it sounds, what is needed before change can come about is that you see the value in immorality or non-morality, and by the same token, the destructiveness of all and every morality! Liberated from the burden of moralistic trash in your mind and soul, you are able to look at yourself through the magic mirror of your own mind, and without beautifying anything you see there. That means you face yourself with all your pain, your suffering, your affliction, perverse needs and desires, your need for violence, your fear of free flow and accordingly, how you block the self-regulatory processes of your organism, which is ultimately the reason that you perpetuate the very problem or hangup that stands in the way of your evolution.

So you are going to look at yourself really through the mirror of your own consciousness; the miracle is that the pattern will change through this very regard, once you put your full emotional flow into this internal focus, into this introspection of your inner landscape, facing your shadow without wavering.

Only on the basis of freedom true growth is thinkable and as long as you deny this freedom, which implies the option to choosing evil, you will not be able to choose anything and remain a slave of your inner complexes and the fatality of your conditioning. Only if you are able to consciously choose evil because you are free of the total falseness of so-called morality, you will be able to choose good!

Your inner shadow or demon, the very incarnation of the retrograde vital flow, will only collaborate in your healing and let you free *if you let him free in the first place*, and stop judging and condemning him with your shallow good-bad judgments that have absolutely no value and no validity in real life.

If you have the courage to initiate the first decisive step, the energy will go with you and you will see that every next sprocket in the process of your liberation will be easier than the previous one. When you can get to a point to view your affliction as a state of bondage, you will get a feel what I mean by liberation, and you will see that this is a process, not just a magic stroke that will change you from devil to angel. You are not a devil and you will not become an angel. Both devils and angels are inferior to human beings,

because they cannot choose. They are destined to be either devils or angels, to either do bad or good, while the genius of the human being is the capacity to be both, and much more.

To initiate this process, we look at what is and not at what should be. If we see what is, we can as a result see why it is as it is. By contrast, if we ask what should be, we build an ideal that is different from the reality we are in, and we split ourselves in two: an observer and a dreamer. The observer sees what is, the dreamer longs for what should be. The first is a realist, the second an ideologist.

We will see ourselves in conflict soon since every decision we take will look different if we see it either from the realist's side or from the ideologist's side. This is the basic schizoid split most people suffer from who are reared in a fundamentally moralistic or idealistic educational paradigm. They can never be sure what really they hold true since they are, so to say, caught in 'two truths.' And that is why they generally speak with two tongues. They tend to argue like 'Man is bad but God wants us to be good' or 'People are rude by nature but if they are Communist they turn to be caring people' or 'People are uneducated and bad

but our great Theosophy renders them enlightened and good.'

All this is pure schizophrenia and shows the basic split humanity is suffering from since the moralistic worldview prevails. To become whole requires us to acknowledge this split and to face our sadistic drives and desires, our need to compensate for all the hurt we ourselves have suffered in early childhood. It requires us to face our inner wounds and become vulnerable again for *feeling-with*, for compassion, and thus develop *empathy*.

The next step, then, is to become aware where our need for violence is rooted in. When we observe pleasure, we see that its repression more or less automatically creates violence. Violence is a negative pleasure function in the sense that it comes about when pleasure is repressed. Our infantile need for body pleasure has been repressed to a large extent. Most of us, in childhood and youth, have been denied to engage in autoerotic play, and even more so have been denied free sexual relations with other children or adults. Instead, we perceived sexuality as the big taboo and the activity that is most dangerous to engage in while our bodies strongly asked for sex. Soci-

ety made us believe that sexuality is bad while violence is good and thus conditioned us from childhood to accept violence as a poor *ersatz* for the lost paradise of body pleasure. In fact, society stole us our bodies during childhood, depriving us of the intrinsic feeling to own them, namely by having the autonomy to use them.

The distortion of perception that goes along with thwarting natural emotions in early childhood is the *key* for understanding why humans can be bought into denying themselves the most basic of fulfillment there is in life, *love*.

And it is because we ourselves were deprived in the first place of the freedom to develop our *full emotionality* in childhood that we deny it to our children and instead instill in them fear, suspicion and violence.

If we looked at things with an innocent eye and without any moralistic paradigm, we would naturally perceive that children are emotionally much more balanced than we other adults are. Naturally raised children are not only not sadistic, they are also, what counts even more, sexually not sadistic and thus

achieve sexual fulfillment without threat and without violence.

ACCEPTANCE

The first important step you must take for the realization of emotional reflow and the dissolution of your abuse pattern is acceptance of your love and desire, and a clear decision to *not* repress it.

Repression does not lead anywhere, except to more repression. It is a way of going around a problem, not a way of solving it. Whatever your emotional and randomly sexual longings are, stay behind them and do not deny them. Instead, try to get away from all and every label that you see society attaches to your particular attraction and try to see the real beauty of your love!

Only you can be your advocate, once you are ready for it, once you have stopped being your own judge. Judging yourself is the worst you can do. It serves nobody. Instead, try to be every day a little more tolerant with yourself, a little more permissive, a little more understanding. When you stop considering your own attractions, and those of others, as an afflic-

tion, and begin to see everybody's emotional predilections as a gift, as a blessing, then you start out to see the uniqueness in yourself and other humans – instead of seeing the standards imposed by an ignorant society.

Giving up repression also means to inquire into the messages we receive through dreams, from the unconscious realm. We do not always understand those messages, and perhaps not all dreams are messages. Dreams are certainly also destined to help us digest events, to overcome deep hurt and thus to favor inner healing as well as preparing and fostering change.

The beneficial effects of your regularly monitoring your dreams do not require you to understand their meaning. It is enough noting your dreams in a booklet, every morning, right after waking up, and from time to time reading through this booklet. Consider it as a collection of personal stories, dream stories, and read them with delight once in a while.

Even though you may consider some of them appalling because of frightening animals appearing, strange things happening or violence becoming staged, they represent an accurate reflection of your

inner thoughts, your inner reality, at a precise point in time and space, and as such have to be taken serious.

Dreams are creative productions of our mind, and the language they speak forms part of our own symbolic language. Furthermore, dreams tell us at times things that we would never admit to ourselves or that we always ignored. They reveal a part of our truth. By integrating the messages of our dreams, our thinking becomes more holistic, more true, and our actions will be more authentic. You will also see that dreams reveal to you how secure or insecure you are with regard to your love choices. Do you accept your love? Or do you fight it? Do you try to go around it or cover it up? Do you distract yourself in order not to think about it?

All these questions are reflected upon in your dreams, and the answers you get from them may be confused or clear. When you are confused, your dreams will show confusion; when your choices are clear, you will have clear and straightforward dreams.

You may wonder why you should get feedback from your dreams? I do not say that you cannot do without it, but it surely is one important tool for selfknowledge. It is a tool among others. If you do not

feel like exploring your dream world, you do not have to! But it is certainly true that you can advance faster in the realization of your goals when you really know what you want.

Life is responsive. It guides us, it helps us to acquire self-knowledge, and this, as I said, not only through dreams but also in daily life. But this feedback depends also on our clarity of mind, or more precisely put, on the *clarity of our wishes*. If your desires are confused and mixed with guilt and shame, there is a chance that you will find this very confusion in your mind reflected in the outside world, and you will build confusion into your relationships, which is the deeper meaning behind triangular relations. If you are not sure what you want and should want, you will get both, but in a way that is problematic.

REALIZING YOUR LOVE

You can begin authoring your life and thereby gaining clarity about your love choices, your emotional predilections. I would like to stress at this point that one possible etiology of sadism are *repressed homoerotic wishes* that, instead of being joyfully admitted

and embraced, became charged with fear and disgust. When as a man I want to punish women by acting out sadistically on females, what my behavior expresses is anger, and not love; then I reject women rather than embracing them. This anger may be a result of my unconscious homoerotic desires, and it may dissolve once I give green light for engaging in a same sex adventure.

What I am saying is that homoerotic wishes are a natural add-on to our sexual completeness, without for that reason rendering us 'a homosexual' or 'a lesbian.' These emotional predilections for partners of the same sex are most of the time transitory, and mark certain phases or periods in our lives. They are for most people not a fixated sexual condition, in the sense of being either-or choices. It may be like in the yin-yang formula. In the black circle that represents yin energy, there is a small white circle that stands for the growing part of yang within the overwhelming part of yin. This small white yang circle will thus grow until it is as large as the black yin circle, while the latter will diminish to a smaller size and reside in the large white yang circle.

Thus what we have here is not a static idea, but a living dynamic movement, a steady transformation. Yin plus a little yang inside transforms into yang plus a little yin inside and back again. What this means, translated into less abstract terms, is that every man once in a while becomes woman and every woman once in a while becomes man. As a man, you are composed not only of male but also of female characteristics; you are actually a mix of male and female ingredients. In your individual emotional identity code is contained also an information to what extent you are yang and to what extent you are yin. You can look it up using astrology or numerology. For example in my astrological chart I saw with some surprise that my own mix, while I am a man, is composed of 55% yin and 45% yang, which means that in terms of my unique emotional ID tag, I am predominantly yin or female.

Thus, at the start of your finding out about yourself, and inquiring in the roots of your sadistic desires, you should check in which way you may be locked into rejecting certain sexual fantasies and experiences. You just have to inquire using your fantasy, and letting your imagination grow wild; then, see what

happens in the little films that you make up in your mind.

I have never repressed my bisexuality. I know that sexual arousal for a partner of equal gender and age can come about. It comes about not spontaneously in many cases, that is true, but as a possible result of deep affection and the voluntary giving-up of any idea of machismo, domination, control and moralistic righteousness.

It can come about when two men or women share a deep friendship. It may come about. Or it may not. I am speaking about an option. I do not say that all people should have sex with their friends. We are not talking here about what we ought to do, but what we possibly wish to do and can do if we wish it and as long as we wish it. I am talking about affection and sexual options. I am saying that it is silly to exclude per se any possibility of sex with a same sex partner.

Nature has not written anywhere that we should go to bed only with partners of the other sex. On the other hand, it would be silly to force ourselves to any fashionable concept of *bisexuality* if we really can't make sense of the idea. What I am saying is that you should check out where you possibly and uncon-

sciously have violated your own nature somewhere, somehow, in the past, perhaps when as a youngster obeying to conditioning rules, or by conditioning yourself to what seemed to be 'acceptable behavior'. Put away this self-imposed restriction and liberate yourself from the energetic constriction that goes along with it. There is no acceptable behavior, period! When you start from here, you will namely realize more options for attaining emotional and sexual wholeness than you thought. And when you start to think on these lines, on lines of pleasure, namely, your sadism will automatically go down the river, for sadism is anti-pleasure; sadism is a form of distorted thinking on the lines of coercion!

Sadism acts out like society does, like the law does, like most of our governments and most of our religions do. Sadism is conditioned behavior. Pleasure-seeking, on the other hand, is natural behavior. Again, to be very clear, you should not force any change in behavior, you should not apply a paradigm to your life that you find unfit for yourself. But you may inquire how you might be blocked or have been conditioned into something that is not your total be-

ing, your original being; then you stay with the question.

You simply stay with that question without searching an answer. The answer will come when you have forgotten about the question.

FACING YOUR NOW

It is important for progressing to first see where we are! You cannot start from point zero, you always have done some part of the way before. Thus you should see where you are *now* and what the way is you already have done. Only by facing your present situation, by assessing your present state of being, you can make a true evolution. It is essential that you face your present situation, even though it might be very depressing to look at it. Your present situation is the outcome of your past thoughts! So don't be surprised if it looks negative, shabby, ugly and hopeless.

Just acknowledge that your previous thought patterns were negative, and that it is thus logical that your present situation is reflecting this negative pattern. And you will see that this very insight already gives you relief!

Facing your situation does not mean that you should be fatalistic and focus upon the negative points in your life. It only means to face what is!

If you see what your present situation is, you can peacefully acknowledge that you have been on the wrong track before and you can correct the thought patterns, and the emotional patterns, that were producing negative results. It's like an entrepreneur who assesses his present state of affairs, who has suffered losses and now gets to find out the exact reasons for those losses, so that he can learn from his mistake and correct his previous action, and do it better in the future.

Sometimes you need a distance to your present struggles. You might be in an emotionally strained situation where it's difficult for you to keep a cool head, and you might want to do some sort of relaxation or meditation or just become quiet inside in order to focus on your energy.

Avoid distractions, cinema or television since this surely does not favor introspection but will blur your inner visions! First of all, believe in yourself and the truth of your inner world. Your inner images, what you see or feel when you are relaxed and centered, those

ideas that come up and that may seem crazy to you are part of your innermost truth. Thus, they are important messages from your inner world, and can guide you toward a better, more complete reality, a reality in which you realize your love constructively, without needing to coerce somebody into being a passive dummy for your abreaction.

Facing your situation also means to see yourself for a moment from the vantage point of an observer, somebody who is impartial, who does not take sides, who does not judge, but who has empathy for you. You have this observer in yourself and need only activate it in order to profit from the insights it can deliver. But for this to happen you need to be fully relaxed. This inner observer is most of the time dysfunctional because of a dominant inner critic. The inner critic is the instance in you that judges yourself, that always knows better, that is haughty and arrogant and that tells you something like: 'You're a little piece of shit, so why do you actually bother to improve yourself? You can never do anything valuable, so better you act out like mad or just kill yourself right away!'

It is fatal to listen to the voice of the inner critic, and the fact that you do might be the main reason

why you cannot manage your life properly and run amok almost all the time. I believe that indeed the main reason why passion crimes are committed is that the inner critic is too strong and doesn't allow these individuals to admit their vulnerability, and does therefore not allow them to realize their desire in any natural and social way.

To break the cycle of sexual violence is possible if you allow yourself sexual pleasure in a natural, shared and sociable way, by making friends, following basic social rules to gather with others, and by gradually building trust and long-lasting relationships. Love, and whatever it is you need sexually, works out fine with building social relations, and through experiencing sexual love on a mutually consenting basis.

If you try to get it for money, by seeking relations with prostitutes, you may get the sexual part fulfilled, but hardly ever the emotional part, and the social part, which is why those love experiences are most of the time not fulfilling on all levels, and they may be short-lived and haphazard. Real fulfillment comes from longer-lasting and mutually chosen relations, and this quite independently of the age of the partners.

If you love children, the same principles apply. If you cannot directly bond with children, that is, with those who are free to decide about their own destiny, such as street children, there is no other way than bonding with their parents, and searching out those who are open-minded and permissive enough to possibly allow their child to have an adult mate. If you brush such options off as 'impossible' or 'impossible in our times,' or 'impossible in my culture,' then of course, you block yourself and your love. Nothing is impossible in love.

MAKING A VALUE DECISION

Sometimes it is necessary to having the courage for opposing society and its nonsensical sex laws in order to live your desire in a constructive way. The important thing is that you comply with cosmic law by restraining from inflicting suffering on another creature. The laws on earth are very volatile and they are often not in accordance with eternal law. They actually vary from country to country and from epoch to epoch. If you consider all the ideological and economic values that go along with our morality code,

you will become a total conformist! Then you may pride yourself to have bent your inner nature to that point to have perverted yourself totally from what is natural. And then you may not wonder that you become violent as a beast.

If you still struggle with these values, if you allow them to be valid for you, you will be in trouble, you will feel confused, since they do not go along with your inner nature; they rather oppose it. Thus you must make a clear value decision: what are the values that count for you, and which ones do *not* count for you?

You may find yourself in a value conflict. What is a value conflict? A value conflict is a situation where you are not sure which values count for you and are valid for your life, social values or your soul values? In other words, do you give priority to other people's, the majority's or your society's values, or your own values? Typically, your soul values may allow you to do something that social values consider as marginal, asocial or criminal behavior. For example, during the Middle Ages a natural healer might have been successful with his healing approach yet social values considered him as a sorcerer, and thus a social offender. Other exam-

ple, you may love boys or girls and your soul values do not stand against when you live your love in a peaceful and nonviolent manner, with full agreement of the child and their parents, yet social values still in such a case would consider you as an offender and criminal. What are you going to do to solve this value conflict?

The truth is that *only* your soul values can have an impact on your life, but this is not as obvious as it seems on first sight. Many people actually share the values of others without being aware that these values do not fit or fit only partially their own lives. That means they more or less clone and imitate other peoples' lifestyles without being aware that such behavior deprives them of their own truth – and of their own power! You can enhance your inner clarity by doing the following:

- imagine what you most would like to do now;
- get to write down a wish list (list all your wishes);
- find out what the priority is for you in life.

When you do these explorative activities, your *intuition*, not your intellect will speak. To facilitate this

process, do away with thinking in opposites. Instead, focus on what you wish to realize. Opposites trap you in that they split you into positive and negative parts, the positive parts affirming our desire, the negative parts denying or contradicting it. When you are split in opposites you are less powerful and your clarity about your goals is veiled by fear and indecisiveness.

When you make the wish list, do not worry; let your gut speak and not your head. That's how your body participates in the process, for your body cannot lie. Your body is always honest.

At first, do not give a priority to your wishes nor any order. Just note them. If you have a page filled with wishes, then you may put an order and prioritize them. Then detect one wish you consider more important than all the others and get clarity why this wish gets on top of your priority list. Then go and write it on top of your new wish list, the prioritized one. This is certainly a challenge, but it is not more a challenge as any of the great challenges we know from the lives of great and famous people.

You will be a hero. A hero is one who is able to realize a unique mission and who works with spiritual power, with soul power, for achieving his purpose. A

hero is not the fighter for justice and similar myths; those are fake heroes. A hero is simply the fighter for a unique individual mission. A hero is a person who accepts the trial of saying yes to their own desire — whatever it is like. You may still think that you'll end up on the electric chair if you do this. But this is exactly your fundamental error. You will perhaps end up there if you refuse the call of your self, but certainly not if you follow this call for realizing yourself in a conscious and deliberate way. For if you do this and use spiritual powers to accomplish your mission while being confident that the universe will provide you with exactly what you need, you will end up being powerful and happy, and you will not infringe eternal laws.

TAKING ACTION

You can't remain eternally stagnant, thinking about options, without putting a decisive step toward realization. You must take action! Evaluate all the options you have. Make an option catalogue.

Then visualize each of these options, as if seeing yourself as the actor in a film that plays a version of that option. While you see this film in your mental

eye, be as relaxed as possible. If you feel fear coming up, stop the session and begin it anew in a moment you are more relaxed and more positive.

Do this little game with every option in your catalogue. Then evaluate every single option as to its effectiveness to bring you closer to your desired goal. Finally, decide which option you like most, and why? Ask yourself:

- What is the action I need to take at first?
- What are the obstacles? Can they be removed, and how?
- What are the risks? Can they be kept at stake?
- What is the ultimate advantage from realizing this option?

If you are clear about every step to take, go out and make it happen. Be always watchful, but trust the goodness of your fate. Don't be overcautious and coward, but do on the other hand not take unnecessary risks. And firmly believe that destiny *helps you realize your love* without hurting other humans. Trust that your love will be realized without hurting those you love and who love you!

I think that all great people once came upon their own way and set out to live it in a focused and strongly personal manner. Frank Sinatra sings 'My Way' and his life showed that indeed he had unusual powers, on one hand, and an undeniable shadow, on the other. Our shadow is what gives depth to the picture, it is our hidden power, our reservoir of energy that is to be put at good use. Our shadow is our chance to become true individuals and live original lives, without the need to imitate others.

Only by becoming very sensitive, we can *heal the* sadistic affliction. This sensitivity can be built in various ways. Let me suggest a few that I have tried out and that worked:

- reduce alcohol consumption to a strict minimum;
- reduce smoking to a strict minimum;
- reduce eating red meat to a strict minimum;
- try to live a simple lifestyle and avoid large festivities;
- avoid to aggrandize yourself in your fantasies.

Will this society be one day mature enough to face that love is love, and as such not subject of power abuse, and that it is part of the human karma, the total human experience, without being afraid with this or that sexual act? It is to overcome the *manipulation* of all religions, violent state doctrines and power ideologies of all times and to attain freedom. Then only, and not before, will there be *responsible* social mores and rules.

To speak with Krishnamurti, instead of thinking, reasoning and arguing with yourself, you should develop total attention so that you can intuitively grasp the whole of the question. This watchful passive alertness, when you are focused inside and upon your longings and desires, is erotic intelligence. It reflects the deep truth that our body, and our emotions have their own intrinsic intelligence —that may well differ from the voice of our mind.

Erotic intelligence is a natural outflow of consciousness! However, unfortunately so, emotional and erotic consciousness are underdeveloped in our culture. If we try to understand why society fights sexual paraphilias as the ultimate monstermind software in the human setup, we must see the psychological

mechanism of *projection*. With other words, we must come to the point to see the fact that society always projects on certain people or groups the content of consciousness that it has blinded out from its official dogma of reality.

What my mind cannot assimilate, it projects upon others, a group, a lifestyle, a condition, or a race. As I hide from myself the fact that I am violent, I will develop and display a real zeal for fighting violence in the world. Instead of tackling the problem where it really is, within myself, I try to solve it on a fantasy stage: the level of 'humanity at large.'

If the many abuse victims that go around making the world save for universal love could see how abusive they are with their own children, they would probably end up totally depressed —but that would be to their best. They would stop that zealous fight that is but a blind man's buff.

Hiding desires brings about dishonesty and myths. One of them is the myth that there was something like *purity*. It's a word to be found in the spiritual literature all over the world. While purity is certainly a quality to be appreciated in any human being, purity as a virtue is entirely different of what the mass public

tends to understand under this word; it does certainly not mean emotional numbness. True purity is virtue that implies truthfulness, honesty and straightforwardness. It is quite the contrary of the false, hypocrite and perversely dishonest attitude to be found in modern society regarding the reality of our emotions and sexual feelings.

The majority's response to their own natural emotions is but repression and oblivion, the classical attitude of the cannot-be-what-must-not-be. They simply are afraid of erotic intelligence, and tend to fight awareness of their emosexual needs. They try to handle their lives not by intelligent understanding of their desires and dreams, but by adapting to strict dogmatic rules. With one word, they are not humans, but robots.

The consequences are communication disabilities and a *general appalling lack of creativeness* in the common man or woman. These are not just minor problems in today's modern consumer cultures, and they are not just random appearances; in fact, these shortcomings make out a great part of the work of psychologists and therapists. Creativity can hardly develop in a climate of suspicion and emotional repres-

sion. It depends upon qualities like spontaneity, trust, openness, honesty and straightforwardness.

Energetically speaking, this is well explainable by the higher bioplasmatic vibration of truly creative people. People who are not fragmented are charismatic. Their vital energy is felt as inspiring and they easily respond to it by enthusiasm and a generally loving and embracing attitude that is felt as erotic so that you can experience their high bioenergetic charge in their presence. That is all the secret.

Creativity can only develop within a framework of freedom and acceptance, and where bioenergy can freely flow and be exchanged – not in a nightmare of fear and persecution or, worse, public hysteria that is the daily reality in our paranoid culture. Love is unity. Those who argue that love has nothing to do with pleasure, such as K, and that love thus is always platonic, argue on the basis of moralistic dualism, a form of philosophical schizophrenia.

I mention K here as a negative example, and deliberately so, for he was by no means consistent in his approach to love and sex. He contradicted himself blatantly. He was always pretending he was not taking a moralistic approach but then said that love had

nothing to do with pleasure. If love is really abstract from pleasure, as K says, then we got a schizoid split here when people are mating just for pleasure. Then, we would have to argue that they are not loving each other and just act upon their sensations.

I do not believe that physical love is outside the realm of total love. In the contrary do I think that love also embraces pleasure. K was not clear about sexuality at all; he lived a non-sexual life, which cannot be taken as an example for ordinary people, as most humans are not able to renounce their sexual wishes. And I am asking provocatively, and would have asked K had I had the opportunity to meet him in person: 'Why should humans be able to renounce their sexual wishes?' 'What virtue is there in renouncing desires that are given by nature?'

I would ask the same question to the oldest of sages, Lao-tzu. He also affirmed that one had to 'seal the port of desire', and his energy science was completely biased as it considers only yang as positive, creative and growth-inducing, but not yin. This was the official doctrine of Taoism, the oldest religion of humanity. All those religious and philosophical books

are written by males, and for males, and they are biased in every possible respect.

This is why I think for intelligent and sensitive people of our times, all this has only a very relative value; we are called upon to forge *new social policies and laws for a new society!* We cannot look back because we live in a new and very different evolutionary cycle within the total growth process of humanity. We can take some wisdom from these old teachings, but that's about all. They won't help us that much in meeting the need there is for a different look upon life, love and sex.

— I widely agree here with Riane Eisler's conclusions in her book Sacred Pleasure: Sex, Myth and the Politics of the Body (1996).

A person with vivid emotions doesn't experience fatal lifestyle diseases and does equally not need expensive medical treatments since their self-healing capacities are excellent. By the same token, an erotically satisfied person does not develop high interest in consumer goods. Their body is their primary focus when they relax and retreat from public life, and not a gadget ersatz, readily fabricated by modern consumer industry. Hence, erotically fulfilled people are

per se heretics in a system that commercially exploits the repression of our primary eroticism!

AFFIRMING YOUR IDENTITY

The third and most important issue at stake behind consumerism is identity. There is personal identity, gender identity, sexual identity, social identity, political identity, ethnic identity and national identity. Any of these identities can only grow in freedom. That is why child protection, as all protection, is counterproductive to building identity. The slave is identified as an asset of his or her master, not as a persona sui generis. The modern citizen is identified as an asset of the nation state he or she belongs to. The modern citizen is not identified as a person in her own right and spiritual origin that bears a unique cosmic identity tag in form of an energy code that is written right in our vibrational field. That is why consumer citizens do not enjoy social autonomy. The consumer citizen is a creature that lives with a disowned body, a body that is socially controlled and manipulated.

Aristotelian dualism that was taken over by the Church and later by the modern state has allowed to

dissect body and soul so that the theory became possible that a person may disown her body without disowning her soul. I would go as far as saying that it was this paradigm that triggered ancient and modern holocausts. It was a common argument for missionaries for committing genocide of supposedly non-believing native populations. They alleged that those people did 'not have a soul' and were thus per definition no humans. Hitler used the same rhetoric against the Jews and the gypsies.

This argument is logically impossible if we maintain that body and soul are a unity because then every creature that owns a body *must* own a soul. As a consequence we *must assume* that the modern citizen who lives with a disowned body equally has been deprived of their soul. The question why modern life has no soul finds its answer here. A society of disowned individuals is a group of shadows or an ensemble of ectoplasms, but not a community of soul-beings. Tribal societies are different in their being in unity with their bodies and thus with their souls! That is why their lifestyle is filled with soul, with joy, with significance while modern society's is empty like a dried-out shell.

The way out of consumerist projections, absurd intellectual assumptions and publicly propagated lies is *understanding*; it comes about through erotic intelligence. It is a result of finding answers *inside*, afar from political conceptions and models. People who have problems with being in touch with their natural emotions should make serious efforts to understand and reintegrate their disowned selves – and the problems will disappear.

The new science paradigm shows us that Darwinian reductionism is built on false premises in that the human is not a machine. Humans are not only physical and sexual beings, but *soul beings* first of all, and thereafter, from a psychosomatic perspective, we are emotional plus sexual, and thus *emosexual* beings. This is simply so, if sexological reductionism agrees or not. Mechanistic sexology does not consider emotional preferences as factors triggering sexual attraction because emotions do not fit their residual Darwinian scheme of 'sexual drives' that has been taken over and reinforced by psychoanalysis and psychological and medical practices that are mainstream today. Mainstream social sciences see emotions only as an add-on to sexuality, as something that can be linked

to sexual behavior, but not something that is genuinely involved in sexual attraction, or that even triggers sexual attraction.

By contrast, my hypothesis is that emotional attraction is the primal attraction and that sexual attraction is random and secondary. I further argue that sexual attraction follows emotional attraction, and not vice versa. I am aware that I am contradicting modern sexology in this point and that my hypothesis may sound queer to many psychologists and psychiatric professionals. It's here where my landscape starts and where traditional sexology ends. Despite the contradiction with established science, I believe there is a good chance that my new terminology will be accepted in the future, simply because it is useful—and truthful.

With the transformation we are presently going through, I believe, there is a high probability that the values of intimacy, love and sexuality will be revisited, if not completely revised in a more enlightened society of the future.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Contextual Bibliography

ABRAMS, JEREMIAH (ED.)

Reclaiming the Inner Child

New York: Tarcher/Putnam, 1990

Alston, John P. / Tucker, Francis

The Myth of Sexual Permissiveness
The Journal Of Sex Research, 9/1 (1973)

APPLETON, MATTHEW

A Free Range Childhood
SELF-REGULATION AT SUMMERHILL SCHOOL
FOUNDATION FOR EDUCATIONAL RENEWAL, 2000

ARCAS, GÉRALD, DR

Guérir le corps par l'hypnose et l'auto-hypnose

Paris: Sand, 1997

ARIÈS, PHILIPPE

L'enfant et la famille sous l'Ancien Régime

Paris, Seuil, 1975

Centuries of Childhood

New York: VINTAGE BOOKS, 1962

Geschichte der Kindheit FRANKFURT/M: DTV, 1998

ARNTZ, WILLIAM & CHASSE, BETSY

What the Bleep Do We Know 20TH CENTURY FOX, 2005 (DVD)

Down The Rabbit Hole Quantum Edition 20TH CENTURY FOX, 2006 (3 DVD SET)

Relationships and Life Cycles
ASTROLOGICAL PATTERNS OF PERSONAL EXPERIENCE
SEBASTOPOL, CA: CRCS PUBLICATIONS, 1993

ATLEE, TOM

The Tao of Democracy

USING CO-INTELLIGENCE TO CREATE A WORLD THAT WORKS FOR ALL NORTH CHARLESTON, SC: IMPRINT BOOKS / WORLDWORKS PRESS, 2003

BACHELARD, GASTON

The Poetics of Reverie
TRANSLATED BY DANIEL RUSSELL

BOSTON: BEACON PRESS, 1971

BAGGINS, DAVID SADOFSKY

Drug Hate and the Corruption of American Justice

SANTA BARBARA: PRAEGER, 1998

BAGLEY, CHRISTOPHER

Child Abusers

RESEARCH AND TREATMENT

NEW YORK: UNIVERSAL PUBLISHERS, 2003

BALTER, MICHAEL

The Goddess and the Bull

CATALHOYUK, AN ARCHAEOLOGICAL JOURNEY

TO THE DAWN OF CIVILIZATION

New York: Free Press, 2006

BANDLER, RICHARD

Get the Life You Want

THE SECRETS TO QUICK AND LASTING LIFE CHANGE

WITH NEURO-LINGUISTIC PROGRAMMING

DEERFIELD BEACH, FL: HCI, 2008

BARBAREE, HOWARD E. & MARSHALL, WILLIAM L. (EDS.)

The Juvenile Sex Offender

SECOND EDITION

New York: Guilford Press, 2008

BARRON, FRANK X., MONTUORI, ET AL. (EDS.)

Creators on Creating

AWAKENING AND CULTIVATING THE IMAGINATIVE MIND

(New Consciousness Reader)

New York: P. Tarcher/Putnam, 1997

BATESON, GREGORY

Steps to an Ecology of Mind

CHICAGO: UNIVERSITY OF CHICAGO PRESS, 2000

ORIGINALLY PUBLISHED IN 1972

Bender Lauretta & Blau, Abram

The Reaction of Children to Sexual Relations with Adults AMERICAN J. ORTHOPSYCHIATRY 7 (1937), 500-518

BENKLER, YOCHAI

The Wealth of Networks

How Social Production Transforms Markets and Freedom

New Haven, CT: Yale University Press, 2007

BENNION, FRANCIS

Statutory Interpretation

LONDON: BUTTERWORTHS, 1984

BERNARD, FRITS

Paedophilia

A FACTUAL REPORT

AMSTERDAM: ENCLAVE, 1985

BERTALANFFY, LUDWIG VON

General Systems Theory

FOUNDATIONS, DEVELOPMENT, APPLICATIONS

New York: George Brazilier Publishing, 1976

BESANT, ANNIE

An Autobiography

New Delhi: Penguin Books, 2005

ORIGINALLY PUBLISHED IN 1893

Bettelheim, Bruno

A Good Enough Parent

New York: A. Knopf, 1987

The Uses of Enchantment

New York: VINTAGE BOOKS, 1989

BOHM. DAVID

Wholeness and the Implicate Order

LONDON: ROUTLEDGE, 2002

Thought as a System

LONDON: ROUTLEDGE, 1994

Quantum Theory

LONDON: DOVER PUBLICATIONS, 1989

BOLDT. LAURENCE G.

Zen and the Art of Making a Living

A PRACTICAL GUIDE TO CREATIVE CAREER DESIGN

New York: Penguin Arkana, 1993

How to Find the Work You Love New York: Penguin Arkana, 1996

Zen Soup

TASTY MORSELS OF ZEN WISDOM FROM GREAT MINDS EAST & WEST

New York: Penguin Arkana, 1997

The Tao of Abundance

EIGHT ANCIENT PRINCIPLES FOR ABUNDANT LIVING

New York: Penguin Arkana, 1999

BORDEAUX-SZEKELY, EDMOND

Teaching of the Essenes from Enoch to the Dead

SEA SCROLLS

BEEKMAN PUBLISHING, 1992

Gospel of the Essenes

THE UNKNOWN BOOKS OF THE ESSENES

& LOST SCROLLS OF THE ESSENE BROTHERHOOD

BEEKMAN PUBLISHING, 1988

Gospel of Peace of Jesus Christ

BEEKMAN PUBLISHING, 1994

Gospel of Peace, 2d Vol.

LB S INTERNATIONAL PUBLISHERS

Branden, Nathaniel

How to Raise Your Self-Esteem

NEW YORK: BANTAM, 1987

BRANT & TISZA

The Sexually Misused Child

AMERICAN J. ORTHOPSYCHIATRY, 47(1)(1977)

BRASSAI

Conversations with Picasso

CHICAGO: UNIVERSITY OF CHICAGO PUBLICATIONS, 1999

Brennan, Barbara Ann

Hands of Healing

A GUIDE TO HEALING THROUGH THE HUMAN ENERGY FIELD

NEW YORK: BANTAM, 1988

Brongersma, Edward

Aggression against Pedophiles

7 International Journal of Law & Psychiatry 82 (1984)

Loving Boys

AMSTERDAM, NEW YORK: GAP, 1987

BRUCE, ALEXANDRA

Beyond the Bleep

THE DEFINITE UNAUTHORIZED GUIDE TO 'WHAT THE BLEEP DO WE

Know!?'

New York: Disinformation, 2005

BULLOUGH & BULLOUGH (EDS.)

Human Sexuality

AN ENCYCLOPEDIA

NEW YORK: GARLAND PUBLISHING, 1994

Sin, Sickness and Sanity

A HISTORY OF SEXUAL ATTITUDES

NEW YORK: NEW AMERICAN LIBRARY, 1977

BURGESS, ANN WOLBERT

Child Pornography and Sex Rings

NEW YORK: LEXINGTON BOOKS, 1984

BURWICK, FREDERICK

The Damnation of Newton

GOETHE'S COLOR THEORY AND ROMANTIC PERCEPTION

New York: Walter de Gruyter, 1986

BUTLER-BOWDEN, TOM

50 Success Classics

WINNING WISDOM FOR WORK & LIFE FROM 50 LANDMARK BOOKS

LONDON: NICHOLAS BREALEY PUBLISHING, 2004

BUXTON, RICHARD

The Complete World of Greek Mythology

LONDON: THAMES & HUDSON, 2007

CAIN. CHELSEA & MOON UNIT ZAPPA

Wild Child

New York: Seal Press (Feminist Publishing), 1999

CALDERONE & RAMEY

Talking With Your Child About Sex

NEW YORK: RANDOM HOUSE, 1982

CAMPBELL, HERBERT JAMES

The Pleasure Areas

LONDON: EYRE METHUEN LTD., 1973

CAMPBELL, JACQUELINE C.

Assessing Dangerousness

VIOLENCE BY SEXUAL OFFENDERS, BATTERERS AND CHILD

ABUSERS

New York: Sage Publications, 2004

CAMPBELL, JOSEPH

The Hero With A Thousand Faces

PRINCETON: PRINCETON UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1973

(BOLLINGEN SERIES XVII)

LONDON: ORION BOOKS, 1999

Occidental Mythology

PRINCETON: PRINCETON UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1973

(BOLLINGEN SERIES XVII)

New York: Penguin Arkana, 1991

The Masks of God

ORIENTAL MYTHOLOGY

New York: Penguin Arkana, 1992

ORIGINALLY PUBLISHED 1962

The Power of Myth

WITH BILL MOYERS

ED. BY SUE FLOWERS

New York: Anchor Books, 1988

CAPACCHIONE, LUCIA

The Power of Your Other Hand

NORTH HOLLYWOOD, CA: NEWCASTLE PUBLISHING, 1988

CAPRA. BERNT AMADEUS

Mindwalk

A FILM FOR PASSIONATE THINKERS

BASED UPON FRITJOF CAPRA'S THE TURNING POINT

NEW YORK: TRITON PICTURES, 1990

CAPRA, FRITJOF

The Turning Point

SCIENCE, SOCIETY AND THE RISING CULTURE

New York: Simon & Schuster, 1987 Original Author Copyright, 1982

The Tao of Physics

AN EXPLORATION OF THE PARALLELS BETWEEN MODERN

PHYSICS AND EASTERN MYSTICISM

NEW YORK: SHAMBHALA PUBLICATIONS, 2000 (NEW EDITION) ORIGINALLY PUBLISHED IN 1975

The Web of Life

A New Scientific Understanding of Living Systems

NEW YORK: DOUBLEDAY, 1997 AUTHOR COPYRIGHT 1996

The Hidden Connections

INTEGRATING THE BIOLOGICAL, COGNITIVE AND SOCIAL DIMENSIONS OF LIFE INTO A SCIENCE OF SUSTAINABILITY

New York: Doubleday, 2002

Steering Business Toward Sustainability

New York: United Nations University Press, 1995

Uncommon Wisdom

CONVERSATIONS WITH REMARKABLE PEOPLE

NEW YORK: BANTAM, 1989

The Science of Leonardo

Inside the Mind of the Great Genius of the Renaissance

New York: Anchor Books, 2008

New York: Bantam Doubleday, 2007 (First Publishing)

COMPLETE LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

HTTP://WWW.FRIT.IOFCAPRA.NET/PUBLISHERS.HTML

CASSOU, MICHELLE & CUBLEY, STEWARD

Life, Paint and Passion

RECLAIMING THE MAGIC OF SPONTANEOUS EXPRESSION

New York: P. Tarcher/Putnam, 1996

CASTANEDA. CARLOS

The Teachings of Don Juan

A YAQUI WAY OF KNOWLEDGE

WASHINGTON: SQUARE PRESS, 1985

Journey to Ixtlan

Washington: Square Press: 1991

Tales of Power

WASHINGTON: SQUARE PRESS, 1991

The Second Ring of Power

WASHINGTON: SQUARE PRESS, 1991

Clarke-Steward, S., Friedman, S. & Koch, J.

Child Development, A Topical Approach

LONDON: JOHN WILEY, 1986

Constantine, Larry L.

Children & Sex

New Findings, New Perspectives

LARRY L. CONSTANTINE & FLOYD M. MARTINSON (EDS.)

BOSTON: LITTLE, BROWN & COMPANY, 1981

Treasures of the Island

CHILDREN IN ALTERNATIVE LIFESTYLES

BEVERLY HILLS: SAGE PUBLICATIONS, 1976

Where are the Kids?

IN: LIBBY & WHITEHURST (ED.)

MARRIAGE AND ALTERNATIVES

GLENVIEW: SCOTT FORESMAN, 1977

Open Family

A LIFESTYLE FOR KIDS AND OTHER PEOPLE

26 FAMILY COORDINATOR 113-130 (1977)

COOK, M. & HOWELLS, K. (EDS.)

Adult Sexual Interest in Children ACADEMIC PRESS, LONDON, 1980

COVITZ, JOEL

Emotional Child Abuse

THE FAMILY CURSE

BOSTON: SIGO PRESS, 1986

CURRIER, RICHARD L.

Juvenile Sexuality in Global Perspective

IN: CHILDREN & SEX, NEW FINDINGS, NEW PERSPECTIVES LARRY L. CONSTANTINE & FLOYD M. MARTINSON (Eds.)

BOSTON: LITTLE, BROWN & COMPANY, 1981

Dalai Lama

Ethics for the New Millennium

New York: Penguin Putnam, 1999

DAVIS, A. J.

Sexual Assaults in the Philadelphia Prison System and Sheriff's Van

Trans-Action 6, 2, 8-16 (1968)

DEAN & BRUYN-KOPS

The Crime and the Consequences of Rape

New York: Thomas, 1982

DE BONO, EDWARD

The Use of Lateral Thinking
NEW YORK: PENGUIN, 1967

The Mechanism of Mind New York: Penguin, 1969

Sur/Petition

LONDON: HARPERCOLLINS, 1993

Tactics

LONDON: HARPERCOLLINS, 1993

FIRST PUBLISHED IN 1985

Serious Creativity

USING THE POWER OF LATERAL THINKING TO CREATE NEW IDEAS

LONDON: HARPERCOLLINS, 1996

DELACOUR, JEAN-BAPTISTE

Glimpses of the Beyond

NEW YORK: BANTAM DELL, 1975

DEMAUSE, LLOYD

The History of Childhood NEW YORK, 1974

Foundations of Psychohistory

NEW YORK: CREATIVE ROOTS, 1982

DIAMOND, STEPHEN A., MAY, ROLLO

Anger, Madness, and the Daimonic

THE PSYCHOLOGICAL GENESIS OF VIOLENCE, EVIL AND CREATIVITY

New York: State University of New York Press, 1999

DICARLO, RUSSELL E. (ED.)

Towards A New World View

CONVERSATIONS AT THE LEADING EDGE

ERIE, PA: EPIC PUBLISHING, 1996

Dolto, Françoise

La Cause des Enfants

Paris: Laffont, 1985

Psychanalyse et Pédiatrie

PARIS: SEUIL, 1971

Séminaire de Psychanalyse d'Enfants, 1

Paris: Seuil, 1982

Séminaire de Psychanalyse d'Enfants, 2

Paris: Seuil, 1985

Séminaire de Psychanalyse d'Enfants, 3

Paris: Seuil, 1988

L'évangile au risque de la psychanalyse

Paris: Seuil, 1980

DÜRCKHEIM. KARLFRIED GRAF

Hara: The Vital Center of Man

ROCHESTER: INNER TRADITIONS, 2004

Zen and Us

New York: Penguin Arkana 1991

The Call for the Master

New York: Penguin Books, 1993

Absolute Living

THE OTHERWORLDLY IN THE WORLD AND THE PATH TO MATURITY

New York: Penguin Arkana, 1992

The Way of Transformation

Daily Life as a Spiritual Exercise London: Allen & Unwin, 1988

The Japanese Cult of Tranquility

LONDON: RIDER, 1960

EDEN. DONNA & FEINSTEIN. DAVID

Energy Medicine

New York: Tarcher/Putnam, 1998

The Energy Medicine Kit

SIMPLE EFFECTIVE TECHNIQUES TO HELP YOU BOOST YOUR VITALITY

BOULDER, CO.: SOUNDS TRUE EDITIONS, 2004

The Promise of Energy Psychology
WITH DAVID FEINSTEIN AND GARY CRAIG
REVOLUTIONARY TOOLS FOR DRAMATIC PERSONAL CHANGE
NEW YORK: JEREMY P. TARCHER/PENGUIN, 2005

EDMUNDS. FRANCIS

An Introduction to Anthroposophy RUDOLF STEINER'S WORLDVIEW LONDON: RUDOLF STEINER PRESS, 2005

EDWARDES. A.

The Jewel of the Lotus NEW YORK, 1959

EINSTEIN. ALBERT

The World As I See It

New York: CITADEL PRESS, 1993

Out of My Later Years New York: Outlet, 1993

Ideas and Opinions

NEW YORK: BONANZA BOOKS, 1988

Albert Einstein Notebook

LONDON: DOVER PUBLICATIONS, 1989

EISLER, RIANE

The Chalice and the Blade

OUR HISTORY, OUR FUTURE

SAN FRANCISCO: HARPER & ROW, 1995

Sacred Pleasure: Sex, Myth and the Politics of the Body

New Paths to Power and Love

SAN FRANCISCO: HARPER & ROW, 1996

The Partnership Way

New Tools for Living and Learning

WITH DAVID LOYE

Brandon, VT: Holistic Education Press, 1998

ELWIN. V.

The Muria and their Ghotul

BOMBAY: OXFORD UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1947

The Secret Life of Water

New York: Atria Books, 2005

ERICKSON, MILTON H.

My Voice Will Go With You

THE TEACHING TALES OF MILTON H. ERICKSON

BY SIDNEY ROSEN (ED.)

New York: Norton & Co., 1991

Complete Works 1.0, CD-ROM

New York: MILTON H. ERICKSON FOUNDATION, 2001

ERIKSON, ERIK H.

Childhood and Society

NEW YORK: NORTON, 1993 FIRST PUBLISHED IN 1950

FARSON, RICHARD

Birthrights

A BILL OF RIGHTS FOR CHILDREN MACMILLAN, NEW YORK, 1974

FEINBERG, JOEL

Harmless Wrongdoing

THE MORAL LIMITS OF THE CRIMINAL LAW, VOL. 4 NEW YORK: OXFORD UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1990

FENSTERHALM, HERBERT

Don't Say Yes When You Want to Say No

WITH JEAN BEAR

New York: Dell, 1980

FINKELHOR, DAVID

Sexually Victimized Children

New York: Free Press, 1981

FINKELSTEIN, HAIM N. (ED.)

The Collected Writings of Salvador Dali

CAMBRIDGE: CAMBRIDGE UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1998

FORTUNE, MARY M.

Sexual Violence

NEW YORK: PILGRIM PRESS, 1994

FOSTER/FREED

A Bill of Rights for Children 6 FAMILY LAW QUARTERLY 343 (1972)

FOUCAULT, MICHEL

The History of Sexuality, Vol. 1 : The Will to Knowledge

LONDON: PENGUIN, 1998 FIRST PUBLISHED IN 1976

The History of Sexuality, Vol. II: The Use of Pleasure

LONDON: PENGUIN, 1998 FIRST PUBLISHED IN 1984

The History of Sexuality, Vol. III: The Care of Self

LONDON: PENGUIN, 1998 FIRST PUBLISHED IN 1984

FREUD. SIGMUND

Three Essays on the Theory of Sexuality

IN: THE STANDARD EDITION OF THE COMPLETE PSYCHOLOGICAL

Works of Sigmund Freud

LONDON: HOGARTH PRESS, 1953-54

VOL. 7, PP. 130 FF

(FIRST PUBLISHED IN 1905)

The Interpretation of Dreams

New York: Avon, Reissue Edition, 1980

and in: The Standard Edition of the Complete Psychological Works of Sigmund Freud , (24 Volumes) ed. by James Strachey

NEW YORK: W. W. NORTON & COMPANY, 1976

Totem and Taboo

NEW YORK: ROUTLEDGE, 1999 ORIGINALLY PUBLISHED IN 1913

FREUND, KURT

Assessment of Pedophilia

IN: COOK, M. AND HOWELLS, K. (EDS.)
ADULT SEXUAL INTEREST IN CHILDREN
ACADEMIC PRESS, LONDON, 1980

FROMM, ERICH

The Anatomy of Human Destructiveness

NEW YORK: OWL BOOK, 1992
ORIGINALLY PUBLISHED IN 1973

Escape from Freedom

NEW YORK: OWL BOOKS, 1994 ORIGINALLY PUBLISHED IN 1941

TO HAVE OR TO BE

New York: Continuum International Publishing, 1996

ORIGINALLY PUBLISHED IN 1976

The Art of Loving

New York: HarperPerennial, 2000

ORIGINALLY PUBLISHED IN 1956

GELDARD, RICHARD

Remembering Heraclitus

New York: Lindisfarne Books, 2000

GERBER, RICHARD

A Practical Guide to Vibrational Medicine

ENERGY HEALING AND SPIRITUAL TRANSFORMATION

NEW YORK: HARPER & COLLINS, 2001

GELLER, URI

The Mindpower Kit

INCLUDES BOOK, AUDIOTAPE, QUARTZ CRYSTAL AND MEDITATION

CIRCLE

New York: Penguin, 1996

GESELL, IZZY

Playing Along

37 Group Learning Activities Borrowed from Improvisational Theater

Whole Person Associates, 1997

GHISELIN, BREWSTER (ED.)

The Creative Process

REFLECTIONS ON INVENTION IN THE ARTS AND SCIENCES

BERKELEY: UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA PRESS, 1985

FIRST PUBLISHED IN 1952

GIBSON, IAN

The Shameful Life of Salvador Dali

New York: Norton, 1998

GIL. DAVID G.

Societal Violence and Violence in Families

IN: DAVID G. GIL, CHILD ABUSE AND VIOLENCE

New York: Ams Press, 1928

GIMBUTAS, MARIJA

The Language of the Goddess

LONDON: THAMES & HUDSON, 2001

GOLDENSTEIN, JOYCE

Einstein: Physicist and Genius

(GREAT MINDS OF SCIENCE)

New York: Enslow Publishers, 1995

GOLDMAN, JONATHAN & GOLDMAN, ANDI

Tantra of Sound

FREQUENCIES OF HEALING

CHARLOTTESVILLE: HAMPTON ROADS, 2005

Healing Sounds

THE POWER OF HARMONIES

ROCHESTER: HEALING ARTS PRESS, 2002

Healing Sounds

PRINCIPLES OF SOUND HEALING

DVD, 90 MIN.

SACRED MYSTERIES, 2004

GOLDSTEIN, JEFFREY H.

Aggression and Crimes of Violence

New York, 1975

GOLEMAN, DANIEL

Emotional Intelligence

NEW YORK, BANTAM BOOKS, 1995

GORDON, ROSEMARY

Pedophilia: Normal and Abnormal

IN: KRAEMER, THE FORBIDDEN LOVE

LONDON, 1976

GORDON WASSON, R.

The Road to Eleusis

UNVEILING THE SECRET OF THE MYSTERIES

WITH ALBERT HOFMANN, HUSTON SMITH, CARL RUCK AND PETER

Webster

BERKELEY, CA: NORTH ATLANTIC BOOKS, 2008

GOSWAMI, AMIT

The Self-Aware Universe

HOW CONSCIOUSNESS CREATES THE MATERIAL WORLD

New York: Tarcher/Putnam, 1995

GOTTLIEB, ADAM

Peyote and Other Psychoactive Cacti

RONIN PUBLISHING, 2ND EDITION, 1997

GREENE. LIZ

Astrology of Fate

YORK BEACH, ME: RED WHEEL/WEISER, 1986

Saturn

A New Look at an Old Devil

YORK BEACH, ME: RED WHEEL/WEISER, 1976

The Astrological Neptune and the Quest for Redemption

BOSTON: RED WHEEL WEISER, 1996

The Mythic Journey

WITH JULIET SHARMAN-BURKE

THE MEANING OF MYTH AS A GUIDE FOR LIFE NEW YORK: SIMON & SCHUSTER (FIRESIDE), 2000

The Mythic Tarot

WITH JULIET SHARMAN-BURKE

New York: Simon & Schuster (Fireside), 2001

ORIGINALLY PUBLISHED IN 1986

The Luminaries

THE PSYCHOLOGY OF THE SUN AND MOON IN THE HOROSCOPE

WITH HOWARD SASPORTAS

YORK BEACH, ME: RED WHEEL/WEISER, 1992

Greer, John Michael

Earth Divination, Earth Magic

A PRACTICAL GUIDE TO GEOMANCY

New York: Llewellyn Publications, 1999

GROF. STANISLAV

Ancient Wisdom and Modern Science

New York: State University of New York Press, 1984

Beyond the Brain

BIRTH, DEATH AND TRANSCENDENCE IN PSYCHOTHERAPY

New York: State University of New York, 1985

LSD: Doorway to the Numinous

THE GROUNDBREAKING PSYCHEDELIC RESEARCH INTO REALMS OF THE

HUMAN UNCONSCIOUS

ROCHESTER: PARK STREET PRESS, 2009

Realms of the Human Unconscious

OBSERVATIONS FROM LSD RESEARCH

New York: E.P. Dutton, 1976

The Cosmic Game

EXPLORATIONS OF THE FRONTIERS OF HUMAN CONSCIOUSNESS

New York: State University of New York Press, 1998

The Holotropic Mind

THE THREE LEVELS OF HUMAN CONSCIOUSNESS

WITH HAL ZINA BENNETT

New York: HarperCollins, 1993

When the Impossible Happens

Adventures in Non-Ordinary Reality

Louisville, CO: Sounds True, 2005

GROTH, A. NICHOLAS

Men Who Rape

THE PSYCHOLOGY OF THE OFFENDER

New York: Perseus Publishing, 1980

HOLMES, ERNST

The Science of Mind

A PHILOSOPHY, A FAITH, A WAY OF LIFE

New York: Jeremy P. Tarcher/Putnam, 1998

FIRST PUBLISHED IN 1938

HOOD, J. X.

Scientific Curiosities of Love, Sex and Marriage
A Survey of Sex Relations, Beliefs and Customs of Mankind in
Different Countries and Ages

NEW YORK, 1951

HOUSTON, JEAN

The Possible Human

A COURSE IN ENHANCING YOUR PHYSICAL, MENTAL, AND CREATIVE ABILITIES

New York: Jeremy P. Tarcher/Putnam, 1982

HOWELLS, KEVIN

Adult Sexual Interest in Children

CONSIDERATIONS RELEVANT TO THEORIES OF AETIOLOGY IN:

COOK, M. AND HOWELLS, K. (EDS.): ADULT SEXUAL INTEREST IN CHILDREN

ACADEMIC PRESS, LONDON, 1980

HUANG, ALFRED

The Complete I Ching

THE DEFINITE TRANSLATION FROM TAOIST MASTER ALFRED HUANG

ROCHESTER, NY: INNER TRADITIONS, 1998

HUNT. VALERIE

Infinite Mind

SCIENCE OF THE HUMAN VIBRATIONS OF CONSCIOUSNESS

MALIBU, CA: MALIBU PUBLISHING, 2000

INNOCENTI DECLARATION

Declaration on the Protection, Promotion and Support of Breastfeeding

HTTP://WWW.INNOCENTI15.NET/INNO.HTM

JACKSON, NIGEL

The Rune Mysteries

WITH SILVER RAVENWOLF

St. Paul, Minn.: Llewellyn Publications, 2000

JACKSON, STEVI

Childhood and Sexuality

New York: Blackwell, 1982

Jaffe, Hans L.C.

Picasso

New York: Abradale Press, 1996

JAMES, WILLIAM

Writings 1902-1910

THE VARIETIES OF RELIGIOUS EXPERIENCE / PRAGMATISM / A PLURALISTIC

Universe / The Meaning of Truth / Some Problems of Philoso-

PHY / ESSAYS

NEW YORK: LIBRARY OF AMERICA, 1988

Janov, Arthur

Primal Man

THE NEW CONSCIOUSNESS
NEW YORK: CROWELL, 1975

Johnson, Paul

A History of the Jews

NEW YORK: HARPER & ROW, 1987

JOHNSTON & DEISHER

Contemporary Communal Child Rearing: A First Analysis 52 PEDIATRICS 319 (1973)

Jones, W.H.S., Litt, D.

Pliny Natural History

CAMBRIDGE, MASS.: HARVARD UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1980

JUNG, CARL GUSTAV

Archetypes of the Collective Unconscious

IN: THE BASIC WRITINGS OF C.G. JUNG

New York: The Modern Library, 1959, 358-407

Collected Works New York, 1959

On the Nature of the Psyche

IN: THE BASIC WRITINGS OF C.G. JUNG

New York: The Modern Library, 1959, 47-133

Psychological Types

COLLECTED WRITINGS, VOL. 6

PRINCETON: PRINCETON UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1971

Psychology and Religion

IN: THE BASIC WRITINGS OF C.G. JUNG

New York: The Modern Library, 1959, 582-655

Religious and Psychological Problems of Alchemy

IN: THE BASIC WRITINGS OF C.G. JUNG

New York: The Modern Library, 1959, 537-581

Symbol und Libido

Freiburg: Walter Verlag, 1987

The Basic Writings of C.G. Jung

NEW YORK: THE MODERN LIBRARY, 1959

The Development of Personality

COLLECTED WRITINGS, Vol. 17

PRINCETON: PRINCETON UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1954

The Meaning and Significance of Dreams

BOSTON: SIGO PRESS, 1991

The Myth of the Divine Child

IN: ESSAYS ON A SCIENCE OF MYTHOLOGY

PRINCETON, N.J.: PRINCETON UNIVERSITY PRESS BOLLINGEN

SERIES XXII, 1969. (WITH KARL KERENYI)

Two Essays on Analytical Psychology

COLLECTED WRITINGS, VOL. 7

PRINCETON: PRINCETON UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1972

FIRST PUBLISHED BY ROUTLEDGE & KEGAN PAUL, LTD., 1953

KAHN, CHARLES (ED.)

The Art and Thought of Heraclitus

CAMBRIDGE: CAMBRIDGE UNIVERSITY PRESS, 2008

KAPLEAU, ROSHI PHILIP

Three Pillars of Zen

BOSTON: BEACON PRESS, 1967

KARAGULLA, SHAFICA

The Chakras

CORRELATIONS BETWEEN MEDICAL SCIENCE AND CLAIRVOYANT OB-SERVATION (WITH DORA VAN GELDER KUNZ)

WHEATON: QUEST BOOKS, 1989

KLEIN. MELANIE

Love, Guilt and Reparation, and Other Works 1921-1945

New York: Free Press, 1984

(REISSUE EDITION)

Envy and Gratitude and Other Works 1946-1963

New York: Free Press, 2002

(REISSUE EDITION)

KOESTLER, ARTHUR

The Act of Creation

NEW YORK: PENGUIN ARKANA, 1989.

ORIGINALLY PUBLISHED IN 1964

KRAEMER

The Forbidden Love

LONDON, 1976

Krafft-Ebing, Richard von

Psychopathia sexualis

New York: Bell Publishing, 1965

ORIGINALLY PUBLISHED IN 1886

Krause, Donald G.

The Art of War for Executives

LONDON: NICHOLAS BREALEY PUBLISHING, 1995

Krishnamurti, J.

Freedom From The Known

SAN FRANCISCO: HARPER & ROW, 1969

The First and Last Freedom

SAN FRANCISCO: HARPER & ROW, 1975

Education and the Significance of Life

LONDON: VICTOR GOLLANCZ, 1978

Commentaries on Living

FIRST SERIES

LONDON: VICTOR GOLLANCZ, 1985

Commentaries on Living

SECOND SERIES

LONDON: VICTOR GOLLANCZ, 1986

Krishnamurti's Journal

LONDON: VICTOR GOLLANCZ, 1987

Krishnamurti's Notebook

LONDON: VICTOR GOLLANCZ, 1986

Beyond Violence

LONDON: VICTOR GOLLANCZ, 1985

Beginnings of Learning

New York: Penguin, 1986

The Penguin Krishnamurti Reader

New York: Penguin, 1987

On God

SAN FRANCISCO: HARPER & ROW, 1992

On Fear

SAN FRANCISCO: HARPER & ROW, 1995

The Essential Krishnamurti

SAN FRANCISCO: HARPER & ROW, 1996

The Ending of Time
WITH DR. DAVID BOHM

SAN FRANCISCO: HARPER & ROW, 1985

LAING, RONALD DAVID

Divided Self

New York: Viking Press, 1991

R.D. Laing and the Paths of Anti-Psychiatry

ED., BY Z. KOTOWICZ

LONDON: ROUTLEDGE, 1997

The Politics of Experience New York: Pantheon, 1983

LAKHOVSKY, GEORGES

Secret of Life

New York: Kessinger Publishing, 2003

LASZLO, ERVIN

Science and the Akashic Field

An Integral Theory of Everything

ROCHESTER: INNER TRADITIONS, 2004

Quantum Shift to the Global Brain

HOW THE NEW SCIENTIFIC REALITY CAN CHANGE US AND OUR

World

ROCHESTER: INNER TRADITIONS, 2008

Science and the Reenchantment of the Cosmos

THE RISE OF THE INTEGRAL VISION OF REALITY

ROCHESTER: INNER TRADITIONS, 2006

The Akashic Experience

SCIENCE AND THE COSMIC MEMORY FIELD

ROCHESTER: INNER TRADITIONS, 2009

The Chaos Point

THE WORLD AT THE CROSSROADS

NEWBURYPORT, MA: HAMPTON ROADS PUBLISHING, 2006

LAUD. ANNE & GILSTROP. MAY

Violence in the Family

A SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY ON CHILD ABUSE, SEXUAL ABUSE OF

CHILDREN & DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

JUNE 1985

University of Georgia Libraries

BIBLIOGRAPHICAL SERIES, NO. 32

LEADBEATER. CHARLES WEBSTER

Astral Plane

ITS SCENERY, INHABITANTS AND PHENOMENA

Kessinger Publishing Reprint Edition, 1997

Dreams

What they Are and How they are Caused

LONDON: THEOSOPHICAL PUBLISHING SOCIETY, 1903

Kessinger Publishing Reprint Edition, 1998

The Inner Life

CHICAGO: THE RAJPUT PRESS, 1911

KESSINGER PUBLISHING

LEARY, TIMOTHY

Our Brain is God

BERKELEY, CA: RONIN PUBLISHING, 2001

AUTHOR COPYRIGHT 1988

LEBOYER, FREDERICK

Birth Without Violence

New York, 1975

Inner Beauty, Inner Light

NEW YORK: NEWMARKET PRESS, 1997

Loving Hands

THE TRADITIONAL ART OF BABY MASSAGE

NEW YORK: NEWMARKET PRESS, 1977

The Art of Breathing

NEW YORK: NEWMARKET PRESS, 1991

LEGGETT, TREVOR P.

A First Zen Reader

RUTLAND: C.E. TUTTLE, 1980

ORIGINALLY PUBLISHED IN 1972

LEONARD, GEORGE, MURPHY, MICHAEL

The Live We Are Given

A LONG TERM PROGRAM FOR REALIZING THE

POTENTIAL OF BODY, MIND, HEART AND SOUL

New York: Jeremy P. Tarcher/Putnam, 1984

LICHT. HANS

Sexual Life in Ancient Greece

New York: AMS Press, 1995

Liedloff, Jean

Continuum Concept

IN SEARCH OF HAPPINESS LOST

New York: Perseus Books, 1986

FIRST PUBLISHED IN 1977

LIPTON, BRUCE

The Biology of Belief

Unleashing the Power of Consciousness, Matter and Miracles

SANTA ROSA, CA: MOUNTAIN OF LOVE/ELITE BOOKS, 2005

Locke, John

Some Thoughts Concerning Education

LONDON, 1690

REPRINTED IN: THE WORKS OF JOHN LOCKE, 1823

VOL. IX., PP. 6-205

LONG. MAX FREEDOM

The Secret Science at Work

THE HUNA METHOD AS A WAY OF LIFE

MARINA DEL REY: DE VORSS PUBLICATIONS, 1995

ORIGINALLY PUBLISHED IN 1953

Growing Into Light

A Personal Guide to Practicing the Huna Method,

MARINA DEL REY: DE VORSS PUBLICATIONS, 1955

LOWEN, ALEXANDER

Bioenergetics

NEW YORK: COWARD, McGOEGHAM 1975

Depression and the Body

THE BIOLOGICAL BASIS OF FAITH AND REALITY

NEW YORK: PENGUIN, 1992

Fear of Life

New York: Bioenergetic Press, 2003

Honoring the Body

THE AUTOBIOGRAPHY OF ALEXANDER LOWEN

NEW YORK: BIOENERGETIC PRESS, 2004

Joy

THE SURRENDER TO THE BODY AND TO LIFE

New York: Penguin, 1995

Love and Orgasm

New York: Macmillan, 1965

Love, Sex and Your Heart

New York: Bioenergetics Press, 2004

Narcissism: Denial of the True Self

New York: Macmillan, Collier Books, 1983

Pleasure: A Creative Approach to Life New York: BIOENERGETICS PRESS, 2004

FIRST PUBLISHED IN 1970

The Language of the Body

PHYSICAL DYNAMICS OF CHARACTER STRUCTURE

New York: Bioenergetics Press, 2006

Maharshi, Ramana

The Collected Works of Ramana Maharshi

NEW YORK: SRI RAMANASRAMAM, 2002

The Essential Teachings of Ramana Maharshi

A VISUAL JOURNEY

New York: Inner Directions Publishing, 2002

BY MATTHEW GREENBLAD

MALACHI, TAU

Gnosis of the Cosmic Christ

A GNOSTIC CHRISTIAN KABBALAH

St. Paul: Llewellyn Publications, 2005

MALINOWSKI, BRONISLAW

Crime und Custom in Savage Society

LONDON: KEGAN, 1926

Sex and Repression in Savage Society

LONDON: KEGAN, 1927

The Sexual Life of Savages in North West Melanesia

NEW YORK: HALYCON HOUSE, 1929

MANN. EDWARD W.

Orgone, Reich & Eros

WILHELM REICH'S THEORY OF LIFE ENERGY

New York: Simon & Schuster (Touchstone), 1973

MARTINSON, FLOYD M.

Sexual Knowledge

VALUES AND BEHAVIOR PATTERNS

St. Peter: Minn.: Gustavus Adolphus College, 1966

Infant and Child Sexuality

St. Peter: Minn.: Gustavus Adolphus College, 1973

The Quality of Adolescent Experiences

St. Peter: Minn.: Gustavus Adolphus College, 1974

The Child and the Family

CALGARY, ALBERTA: THE UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY, 1980

The Sex Education of Young Children

IN: LORNA BROWN (Ed.), SEX EDUCATION IN THE EIGHTIES NEW YORK, LONDON: PLENUM PRESS, 1981, PP. 51 FF.

The Sexual Life of Children

NEW YORK: BERGIN & GARVEY, 1994

Children and Sex, Part II: Childhood Sexuality

IN: BULLOUGH & BULLOUGH, HUMAN SEXUALITY (1994)

Pp. 111-116

MASTERS, R.E.L.

Forbidden Sexual Behavior and Morality
NEW YORK, 1962

MCCAREY. WILLIAM A.

In Search of Healing

WHOLE-BODY HEALING THROUGH THE MIND-BODY-SPIRIT CONNECTION

NEW YORK: BERKLEY PUBLISHING, 1996

MCLEOD. KEMBREW

Freedom of Expression

RESISTANCE AND REPRESSION IN THE AGE OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

MINNEAPOLIS, MN: UNIVERSITY OF MINNESOTA PRESS, 2007

MCNIFF. SHAUN

Art as Medicine

BOSTON: SHAMBHALA, 1992

Art as Therapy

CREATING A THERAPY OF THE IMAGINATION

BOSTON/LONDON: SHAMBHALA, 1992

Trust the Process

AN ARTIST'S GUIDE TO LETTING GO

New York: Shambhala Publications, 1998

MCTAGGART, LYNNE

The Field

THE QUEST FOR THE SECRET FORCE OF THE UNIVERSE

New York: Harper & Collins, 2002

MEAD. MARGARET

Sex and Temperament in Three Primitive Societies
NEW YORK, 1935

MEADOWS, DONELLA H.

Thinking in Systems

A PRIMER

WHITE RIVER, VT: CHELSEA GREEN PUBLISHING, 2008

MEHTA. ROHIT

J. Krishnamurti and the Nameless Experience

A COMPREHENSIVE DISCUSSION OF J. KRISHNAMURTI'S APPROACH TO LIFE

Delhi: Motilal Banarsidass Publishers, 2002

MERLEAU-PONTY, MAURICE

Phenomenology of Perception

LONDON: ROUTLEDGE, 1995 ORIGINALLY PUBLISHED 1945

METZNER, RALPH (ED.)

Ayahuasca, Human Consciousness and the Spirits of Nature

ED. BY RALPH METZNER, Ph.D.

New York: Thunder's Mouth Press, 1999

The Psychedelic Experience

A MANUAL BASED ON THE TIBETAN BOOK OF THE DEAD

WITH TIMOTHY LEARY AND RICHARD ALPERT

New York: CITADEL, 1995

MILLER, ALICE

Four Your Own Good

HIDDEN CRUELTY IN CHILD-REARING AND THE ROOTS OF VIOLENCE

New York: Farrar, Straus & Giroux, 1983

Pictures of a Childhood

NEW YORK: FARRAR, STRAUS & GIROUX, 1986

The Drama of the Gifted Child

IN SEARCH FOR THE TRUE SELF

TRANSLATED BY RUTH WARD

NEW YORK: BASIC BOOKS, 1996

Thou Shalt Not Be Aware

SOCIETY'S BETRAYAL OF THE CHILD

New York: Noonday, 1998

The Political Consequences of Child Abuse

IN: THE JOURNAL OF PSYCHOHISTORY 26, 2 (FALL 1998)

MOLL. ALBERT

The Sexual Life of the Child

New York: Macmillan, 1912 First published in German as

Das Sexualleben des Kindes, 1909

MONROE, ROBERT

Ultimate Journey

NEW YORK: BROADWAY BOOKS, 1994

Monsaingeon, Bruno

Svjatoslav Richter

NOTEBOOKS AND CONVERSATIONS

PRINCETON: PRINCETON UNIVERSITY PRESS, 2002

Richter The Enigma / L'Insoumis / Der Unbeugsame

NVC ARTS 1998 (DVD)

MONTAGU, ASHLEY

Touching

THE HUMAN SIGNIFICANCE OF THE SKIN

New York: Harper & Row, 1978

MONTESSORI, MARIA

The Absorbent Mind

REPRINT EDITION

NEW YORK: BUCCANEER BOOKS, 1995

FIRST PUBLISHED IN 1973

MOORE. THOMAS

Care of the Soul

A Guide for Cultivating Depth and Sacredness in Everyday Life New York: Harper & Collins, 1994

MOSER, CHARLES ALLEN

DSM-IV-TR and the Paraphilias: an argument for removal WITH PEGGY J. KLEINPLATZ

JOURNAL OF PSYCHOLOGY AND HUMAN SEXUALITY 17 (3/4), 91-109 (2005)

MURDOCK, G.

Social Structure

New York: Macmillan, 1960

MURPHY, JOSEPH

The Power of Your Subconscious Mind

WEST NYACK, N.Y.: PARKER, 1981, N.Y.: BANTAM, 1982

ORIGINALLY PUBLISHED IN 1962

The Miracle of Mind Dynamics
New York: Prentice Hall, 1964

Miracle Power for Infinite Riches WEST NYACK, N.Y.: PARKER, 1972

The Amazing Laws of Cosmic Mind Power

WEST NYACK, N.Y.: PARKER, 1973

Secrets of the I Ching

WEST NYACK, N.Y.: PARKER, 1970

Think Yourself Rich

Use the Power of Your Subconscious Mind to Find True

WEALTH

REVISED BY IAN D. MCMAHAN, Ph.D. PARAMUS, NJ: REWARD BOOKS, 2001

MURPHY, MICHAEL

The Future of the Body

EXPLORATIONS INTO THE FURTHER EVOLUTION OF HUMAN NATURE

New York: Jeremy P. Tarcher/Putnam, 1992

MYERS, TONY PEARCE

The Soul of Creativity

INSIGHTS INTO THE CREATIVE PROCESS

NOVATO, CA: NEW WORLD LIBRARY, 1999

MYSS. CAROLINE

The Creation of Health

The Emotional, Psychological, and Spiritual Responses that Promote

HEALTH AND HEALING

New York: Three Rivers Press, 1998

NAPARSTEK, BELLERUTH

Your Sixth Sense

UNLOCKING THE POWER OF YOUR INTUITION

LONDON: HARPERCOLLINS, 1998

Staying Well With Guided Imagery New York: WARNER BOOKS, 1995

NARBY, JEREMY

The Cosmic Serpent

DNA AND THE ORIGINS OF KNOWLEDGE

New York: J. P. Tarcher, 1999

Nau, Erika

Self-Awareness Through Huna

Virginia Beach: Donning, 1981

NEILL. ALEXANDER SUTHERLAND

Neill! Neill! Orange-Peel!

NEW YORK: HART PUBLISHING CO., 1972

Summerhill

A RADICAL APPROACH TO CHILD REARING NEW YORK: HART PUBLISHING, REPRINT 1984

ORIGINALLY PUBLISHED 1960

Summerhill School

A New View of Childhood New York: St. Martin's Press

REPRINT 1995

NEUMANN, ERICH

The Great Mother

PRINCETON: PRINCETON UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1955

(BOLLINGEN SERIES)

NEWTON, MICHAEL

Life Between Lives

HYPNOTHERAPY FOR SPIRITUAL REGRESSION

WOODBURY, MINN.: LLEWELLYN PUBLICATIONS, 2006

NICHOLS, SALLIE

Jung and Tarot: An Archetypal Journey
New York: Red Wheel/Weiser, 1986

NIN. ANAÏS

The Diary of Anaïs Nin (7 Volumes)

New York, 1966

Volume 1 (1931-1934)

New York: Harvest Books, 1969

Volume 2 (1934-1939)

NEW YORK: HARVEST BOOKS, 1970

ODENT. MICHEL

Birth Reborn

WHAT CHILDBIRTH SHOULD BE

LONDON: SOUVENIR PRESS, 1994

The Scientification of Love

LONDON: FREE ASSOCIATION BOOKS, 1999

Primal Health

Understanding the Critical Period Between Conception

AND THE FIRST BIRTHDAY

LONDON: CLAIRVIEW BOOKS, 2002

FIRST PUBLISHED IN 1986 WITH CENTURY HUTCHINSON IN LONDON

The Functions of the Orgasms

THE HIGHWAY TO TRANSCENDENCE

LONDON: PINTER & MARTIN, 2009

OLLENDORF-REICH, ILSE

Wilhelm Reich, A Personal Biography

NEW YORK, St. MARTINS PRESS, 1969

Wilhelm Reich Vorwort von A.S. Neill München, Kindler, 1975

PEARCE MYERS, TONY (EDITOR)

The Soul of Creativity
INSIGHTS INTO THE CREATIVE PROCESS
NOVATO: NEW WORLD LIBRARY, 1999

PERT, CANDACE B.

Molecules of Emotion
THE SCIENCE BEHIND MIND-BODY MEDICINE
NEW YORK: SCRIBNER, 2003

PETRASH, JACK

Understanding Waldorf Education
TEACHING FROM THE INSIDE OUT
LONDON: FLORIS BOOKS, 2003

PLUMMER. KENNETH

Pedophilia

CONSTRUCTING A SOCIOLOGICAL BASELINE IN: IN: COOK, M. AND HOWELLS, K. (EDS.):
ADULT SEXUAL INTEREST IN CHILDREN
ACADEMIC PRESS, LONDON, 1980, pp. 220 ff.

PORTEOUS, HEDY S.

Sex and Identity

YOUR CHILD'S SEXUALITY

Indianapolis: Bobbs-Merrill, 1972

PRESCOTT, JAMES W.

Affectional Bonding for the Prevention of Violent Behaviors NEUROBIOLOGICAL, PSYCHOLOGICAL AND RELIGIOUS/SPIRITUAL DETERMINANTS, IN: HERTZBERG, L.J., OSTRUM, G.F. AND FIELD, J.R., (EDS.)

Violent Behavior

VOL. 1, ASSESSMENT & INTERVENTION, CHAPTER SIX

NEW YORK: PMA PUBLISHING, 1990

Alienation of Affection
PSYCHOLOGY TODAY, DECEMBER 1979

Body Pleasure and the Origins of Violence
BULLETIN OF THE ATOMIC SCIENTISTS, 10-20 (1975)

Deprivation of Physical Affection as a Primary Process in the Development of Physical Violence A Comparative and Cross-Cultural Perspective, in: David G. Gil, ed., Child Abuse and Violence NEW YORK: AMS PRESS, 1979

Early somatosensory deprivation as an ontogenetic process in the abnormal development of the brain and behavior,

in: Medical Primatology, ed. by I.E. Goldsmith and J. Moor-Jankowski,

New York: S. Karger, 1971

Genital Mutilation of Children: Failure of Humanity and Humanism

UNPRINTED ESSAY (2005)

HTTP://WWW.VIOLENCE.DE/PRESCOTT/LETTERS/

CIRC_CONGRESS_MONTAGUE_9.30.05.HTML

Genital Pain vs. Genital Pleasure

WHY THE ONE AND NOT THE OTHER

THE TRUTH SEEKER, JULY/AUGUST 1989, PP. 14-21

HTTP://WWW.VIOLENCE.DE/PRESCOTT/TRUTHSEEKER/GENPL.HTML

How Culture Shapes the Developing Brain and the Future of Humanity

A BRIEF SUMMARY OF THE RESEARCH WHICH LINKS BRAIN ABNORMALITIES AND VIOLENCE TO AN ABSENCE OF NURTURING AND BONDING VERY EARLY IN CHILDHOOD, IN: TOUCH THE FUTURE: OPTIMUM LEARNING RELATIONSHIPS

for Children & Adults
Spring 2002 (Ed. by Michael Mendizza)
Nevada City, CA, 2002

Invited Commentary: Central nervous system functioning in altered sensory environments

in: M.H. Appley and R. Trumbull (Eds.), Psychological Stress,

NEW YORK: APPLETON-CENTURY CROFTS, 1967

Our Two Cultural Brains: Neurointegrative and Neurodissociative HTTP://www.violence.de/prescott/letters/Our_Two_Cultur-AL_Brains.pdf

Phylogenetic and ontogenetic aspects of human affectional development,

In: Progress in Sexology, Proceedings of the 1976 International, Congress of Sexology, ed. by R. Gemme & C.C. Wheeler, New York: Plenum Press, 1977

Prevention or Therapy and the Politics of Trust Inspiring a New Human Agenda

IN: PSYCHOTHERAPY AND POLITICS INTERNATIONAL

VOLUME 3(3), PP. 194-211

LONDON: JOHN WILEY, 2005

Sex and the Brain

MIDCONTINENT & EASTERN REGIONS, JUNE 13-16, 2002

BIG RAPIDS, MI: SOCIETY FOR CROSS-CULTURAL RESEARCH,

32ND ANNUAL MEETING, 2005

HTTP://WWW.VIOLENCE.DE/ARCHIVE.SHTML

Sixteen Principles for Personal, Family and Global Peace

THE TRUTH SEEKER, MARCH/APRIL 1989

HTTP://WWW.VIOLENCE.DE/PRESCOTT/LETTERS/SIXTEEN_PRINCI-

PLES.PDF

Somatosensory affectional deprivation (SAD) theory of drug and alcohol use

IN: Theories on Drug Abuse: Selected Contemporary Perspectives, ed. by Dan J. Lettieri, Mollie Sayers and Helen Wallenstien Pearson, NIDA Research Monograph 30, March 1980, Rockville, MD: National Institute on Drug Abuse, Department of Health and Human Services, 1980

The Origins of Human Love and Violence

Pre- and Perinatal Psychology Journal, Volume 10, Number 3: Spring 1996, pp. 143-188The Origins of Love and Violence

Sensory Deprivation and the Developing Brain

RESEARCH AND PREVENTION (DVD)

HTTP://TTFUTURE.ORG/STORE/ORIGINS ORDERS

HTTP://VIOI FNCF.DE

HTTP://TTFUTURE.ORG/VIOLENCE

HTTP://MONTAGUNOCIRCPETITION.ORG

PRITCHARD, COLIN

The Child Abusers

New York: Open University Press, 2004

RAKNES, OLA

Wilhelm Reich and Orgonomy

OSLO: UNIVERSITETSFORLAGET, 1970

RANDALL, NEVILLE

Life After Death

LONDON: ROBERT HALE, 1999

RANK. OTTO

Art and Artist

WITH CHARLES FRANCIS ATKINSON AND ANAÏS NIN

NEW YORK: W.W. NORTON, 1989 ORIGINALLY PUBLISHED IN 1932

The Significance of Psychoanalysis for the Mental Sciences

NEW YORK: BIBLIOBAZAAR, 2009

FIRST PUBLISHED IN 1913

REDFIELD, JAMES

The Tenth Insight

HOLDING THE VISION

NEW YORK: WARNER BOOKS, 1996

The Celestine Prophecy

NEW YORK: WARNER BOOKS, 1995

REICH. WILHELM

A Review of the Theories, dating from The 17th Century, on the Origin of Organic Life

BY ARTHUR HAHN, LITERATURE ASSISTANT AT THE INSTITUT FÜR
SEXUALÖKONOMISCHE LEBENSFORSCHUNG, BIOLOGISCHES LABORATORIUM, OSLO, 1938, ©1979 MARY BOYD HIGGINS AS DIRECTOR OF
THE WILHELM REICH INFANT TRUST, XEROX COPY FROM THE WILHELM
REICH MUSEUM

Children of the Future

On the Prevention of Sexual Pathology New York: Farrar, Straus & Giroux, 1984

FIRST PUBLISHED IN 1950

CORE (Cosmic Orgone Engineering)

PART I, SPACE SHIPS, DOR AND DROUGHT

©1984, ORGONE INSTITUTE PRESS

XEROX COPY FROM THE WILHELM REICH MUSEUM

KÖLN: KIEPENHEUER & WITSCH, 1987

Early Writings 1

NEW YORK: FARRAR, STRAUS & GIROUX, 1975

Ether, God & Devil & Cosmic Superimposition

New York: Farrar, Straus & Giroux, 1972

ORIGINALLY PUBLISHED IN 1949

Genitality in the Theory and Therapy of Neurosis

©1980 BY MARY BOYD HIGGINS AS DIRECTOR OF THE WILHELM REICH

INFANT TRUST

People in Trouble

©1974 by Mary Boyd Higgins as Director of the Wilhelm Reich

INFANT TRUST

Record of a Friendship

THE CORRESPONDENCE OF WILHELM REICH AND A. S. NEILL

New York, Farrar, Straus & Giroux, 1981

Selected Writings

AN INTRODUCTION TO ORGONOMY

New York: Farrar, Straus & Giroux, 1973

The Bioelectrical Investigation of Sexuality and Anxiety

New York: Farrar, Straus & Giroux, 1983

ORIGINALLY PUBLISHED IN 1935

The Bion Experiments

REPRINTED IN SELECTED WRITINGS

New York: Farrar, Straus & Giroux, 1973

The Cancer Biopathy (The Orgone, Vol. 2)

NEW YORK: FARRAR, STRAUS & GIROUX, 1973

The Function of the Orgasm (The Organe, Vol. 1)

ORGONE INSTITUTE PRESS, NEW YORK, 1942

The Invasion of Compulsory Sex Morality

New York: Farrar, Straus & Giroux, 1971

ORIGINALLY PUBLISHED IN 1932

The Leukemia Problem: Approach

©1951, Orgone Institute Press

COPYRIGHT RENEWED 1979

XFROX COPY FROM THE WILHELM REICH MUSEUM

The Mass Psychology of Fascism

New York: Farrar, Straus & Giroux, 1970

ORIGINALLY PUBLISHED IN 1933

The Orgone Energy Accumulator

ITS SCIENTIFIC AND MEDICAL USE

©1951, 1979, ORGONE INSTITUTE PRESS

XEROX COPY FROM THE WILHELM REICH MUSEUM

The Schizophrenic Split

©1945, 1949, 1972 BY MARY BOYD HIGGINS AS DIRECTOR OF THE

WILHELM REICH INFANT TRUST

XEROX COPY FROM THE WILHELM REICH MUSEUM

The Sexual Revolution

©1945, 1962 BY MARY BOYD HIGGINS AS DIRECTOR OF THE

WILHELM REICH INFANT TRUST

RISO, DON RICHARD & HUDSON, RUSS

The Wisdom of the Enneagram

THE COMPLETE GUIDE TO PSYCHOLOGICAL AND SPIRITUAL GROWTH

FOR THE NINE PERSONALITY TYPES

NEW YORK: BANTAM BOOKS, 1999

ROBBINS, ANTHONY

Awaken The Giant Within

NEW YORK: SIMON & SCHUSTER, 1991

Unlimited Power

THE NEW SCIENCE OF PERSONAL ACHIEVEMENT

New York: Free Press, 1997

ROBERTS, JANE

The Nature of Personal Reality

NEW YORK: AMBER-ALLEN PUBLISHING, 1994

FIRST PUBLISHED IN 1974

The Nature of the Psyche

ITS HUMAN EXPRESSION

New York, Amber-Allen Publishing, 1996

FIRST PUBLISHED IN 1979

ROSEN, SYDNEY (ED.)

My Voice Will Go With You

THE TEACHING TALES OF MILTON H. ERICKSON

NEW YORK: NORTON & Co., 1991

ROTHSCHILD & WOLF

Children of the Counterculture

New York: Garden City, 1976

SANDFORT, THEO

The Sexual Aspect of Pedophile Relations

THE EXPERIENCE OF TWENTY-FIVE BOYS

AMSTERDAM: PAN/SPARTACUS, 1982

SCHLIPP, PAUL A. (ED.)

Albert Einstein

PHILOSOPHER-SCIENTIST

NEW YORK: OPEN COURT PUBLISHING, 1988

SCHWARTZ, ANDREW E.

Guided Imagery for Groups

FIFTY VISUALIZATIONS THAT PROMOTE RELAXATION, PROBLEM-SOLV-ING,

CREATIVITY, AND WELL-BEING

Whole Person Associates, 1995

Sharaf, Myron

Fury on Earth

A BIOGRAPHY OF WILHELM REICH

LONDON: ANDRÉ DEUTSCH, 1983

SHELDRAKE, RUPERT

A New Science of Life

THE HYPOTHESIS OF MORPHIC RESONANCE

ROCHESTER: PARK STREET PRESS, 1995

Sher, Barbara & Gottlieb, Annie

Wishcraft

HOW TO GET WHAT YOU REALLY WANT

2ND EDITION, NEW YORK: BALLANTINE BOOKS, 2003

SHONE, RONALD

Creative Visualization

Using Imagery and Imagination for Self-Transformation

New York: Destiny Books, 1998

SIMONTON, O. CARL ET AL.

Getting Well Again

LOS ANGELES: TARCHER, 1978

SINGER, JUNE

Androgyny

NEW YORK: DOUBLEDAY DELL, 1976

SMITH, C. MICHAEL

Jung and Shamanism in Dialogue

LONDON: TRAFFORD PUBLISHING, 2007

SPOCK, BENJAMIN

Dr. Spock's Baby and Child Care

8TH EDITION

NEW YORK: POCKET BOOKS, 2004

STEIN, ROBERT M.

Redeeming the Inner Child in Marriage and Therapy

IN: RECLAIMING THE INNER CHILD

ED. BY JEREMIAH ABRAMS

New York: Tarcher/Putnam, 1990, 261 ff.

STEINER, RUDOLF

Theosophy

AN INTRODUCTION TO THE SPIRITUAL PROCESSES IN HUMAN LIFE

AND IN THE COSMOS

New York: Anthroposophic Press, 1994

STEKEL. WILHELM

Auto-Eroticism

A PSYCHIATRIC STUDY OF ONANISM AND NEUROSIS

REPUBLISHED, LONDON: PAUL KEGAN, 2004

Patterns of Psychosexual Infantilism

NEW YORK, 1959 (REPRINT EDITION)

Sadism and Masochism

NEW YORK: W.W. NORTON & Co., 1953

Sex and Dreams

THE LANGUAGE OF DREAMS

REPUBLISHED

New York: University Press of the Pacific, 2003

Stiene, Bronwen & Frans

The Reiki Sourcebook

New York: O Books, 2003

The Japanese Art of Reiki

A PRACTICAL GUIDE TO SELF-HEALING

New York: O Books, 2005

Stone, Hal & Stone, Sidra

Embracing Our Selves

THE VOICE DIALOGUE MANUAL

SAN RAFAEL, CA: NEW WORLD LIBRARY, 1989

STRASSMAN, RICK

DMT: The Spirit Molecule

A DOCTOR'S REVOLUTIONARY RESEARCH INTO THE BIOLOGY OF NEAR-

DEATH AND MYSTICAL EXPERIENCES

ROCHESTER: PARK STREET PRESS, 2001

SYMONDS, JOHN ADDINGTON

A Problem in Greek Ethics

New York: M.S.G. House, 1971

SZASZ, THOMAS

The Myth of Mental Illness

NEW YORK: HARPER & ROW, 1984

TALBOT, MICHAEL

The Holographic Universe

NEW YORK: HARPERCOLLINS, 1992

TARNAS, RICHARD

Cosmos and Psyche

INTIMATIONS OF A NEW WORLD VIEW

NEW YORK: PLUME, 2007

The Passion of the Western Mind

Understanding the Ideas that have Shaped Our World View

NEW YORK: BALLANTINE BOOKS, 1993

TART. CHARLES T.

Altered States of Consciousness

A BOOK OF READINGS

HOBOKEN, N.J.: WILEY & SONS, 1969

TEXTOR, R. B.

A Cross-Cultural Summary

New Haven, Human Relations Area Files (HRAF)

PRESS, 1967

THE ADVENT OF GREAT AWAKENING

A Course in Miracles

TEXT WORKBOOK AND MANUAL FOR TEACHERS

New York: New Christian Church of Full Endeavor, 2007

TILLER, WILLIAM A.

Conscious Acts of Creation
THE EMERGENCE OF A NEW PHYSICS
ASSOCIATED PRODUCERS, 2004 (DVD)

Psychoenergetic Science New York: Pavior, 2007

TOFFLER, ALVIN

Powershift

KNOWLEDGE, WEALTH, AND VIOLENCE AT THE EDGE OF THE 21ST

CENTURY

NEW YORK: BANTAM, 1991

Revolutionary Wealth

HOW IT WILL BE CREATED AND HOW IT WILL CHANGE OUR LIVES

NEW YORK: BROADWAY BUSINESS, 2007

The Third Wave

NEW YORK: BANTAM, 1984

TOLLE, ECKHART

The Power of Now

A GUIDE TO SPIRITUAL ENLIGHTENMENT

NOVATO, CA: New World Library, 2004

A New Earth: Awakening to Your Life's Purpose

New York: Michael Joseph (Penguin), 2005

Unlawful Sex

Offences, Victims and Offenders in the Criminal Justice System of England and Wales

THE REPORT OF THE HOWARD LEAGUE WORKING PARTY

LONDON: WATERLOO PUBLISHERS LTD., 1985

VILLOLDO. ALBERTO

Healing States

A JOURNEY INTO THE WORLD OF SPIRITUAL HEALING AND SHAMANISM

WITH STANLEY KRIPPNER

New York: Simon & Schuster (Fireside), 1987

Dance of the Four Winds: Secrets of the Inca Medicine Wheel

WITH ERIC JENDRESEN

ROCHESTER: DESTINY BOOKS, 1995

Shaman, Healer, Sage

HOW TO HEAL YOURSELF AND OTHERS WITH THE ENERGY MEDICINE

OF THE AMERICAS

New York: Harmony, 2000

Healing the Luminous Body

THE WAY OF THE SHAMAN WITH DR. ALBERTO VILLOLDO

DVD, SACRED MYSTERIES PRODUCTIONS, 2004

Mending The Past And Healing The Future with Soul Retrieval

New York: Hay House, 2005

WARD, ELIZABETH

Father-Daughter Rape

New York: Grove Press, 1985

WHARTON

Wharton's Criminal Law

14TH ED. BY CHARLES E. TORCIA

VOL. II, §§99-282

ROCHESTER, NEW YORK: THE LAWYERS COOPERATIVE PUBLISHING CO.,

1979

WHITFIELD, CHARLES L.

Healing the Child Within

DEERFIELD BEACH, FL: HEALTH COMMUNICATIONS, 1987

WHITING, BEATRICE B.

Children of Six Cultures

A PSYCHO-CULTURAL ANALYSIS

CAMBRIDGE: HARVARD UNIVERSITY PRESS, 1975

WILBER, KEN

Sex, Ecology, Spirituality

THE SPIRIT OF EVOLUTION

BOSTON: SHAMBHALA, 2000

Quantum Questions

Mystical Writings of The World's Greatest Physicists

BOSTON: SHAMBHALA, 2001

WILLIAMS, STREPHON KAPLAN

Dreams and Spiritual Growth

WITH PATRICIA H. BERNE AND LOUIS M. SAVARY

New York: Paulist Press, 1984

Dream Cards

UNDERSTAND YOUR DREAMS AND ENRICH YOUR LIFE

New York: Simon & Schuster (Fireside), 1991

Wolf, Fred Alan

Taking the Quantum Leap

THE NEW PHYSICS FOR NONSCIENTISTS

New York: Harper & Row, 1989

Parallel Universes

New York: Simon & Schuster, 1990

The Dreaming Universe

A MIND-EXPANDING JOURNEY INTO THE REALM WHERE PSYCHE AND

PHYSICS MEET

New York: Touchstone, 1995

The Eagle's Quest

A Physicist Finds the Scientific Truth At the Heart of the

SHAMANIC WORLD

New York: Touchstone, 1997

YATES, ALAYNE

Sex Without Shame: Encouraging the Child's Healthy Sexual De-

velopment

New York, 1978

REPUBLISHED INTERNET EDITION

ZUKAV. GARY

The Dancing Wu Li Masters
AN OVERVIEW OF THE NEW PHYSICS
NEW YORK: HARPERONE, 2001

Personal Notes